
2022 ANNUAL 
REPORT



The Urological Society 
of Australia and New Zealand
Suite 512 Eastpoint,180 Ocean Street, Edgecliff, NSW 2027, Australia

t +61 2 9362 8644 f +61 2 9362 1433 
e  communication@usanz.org.au w www.usanz.org.au 

USANZ recognises Aboriginal and Torres Strait Island 
people as the traditional landowners of Australia 
and the Māori as the tangata whenua (people of the 
land) of Aotearoa New Zealand and respects their 
continuing connection to culture, land, waterways, 
community and whānau/family.



TA B L E  O F  C O N T E N T S

USANZ Board of Directors and Committees 2022 1

Annual Reports  
 President’s letter  3 
 President’s Report 4 
 Chief Executive Officer’s Report  8 
 Member Activity Report     10 
 Secretary’s Report 34 
 Treasurer’s Report 36 
 2022 Financial Reports 38 
 Board of Urology Report 59 
 Continuing Professional Development Report 64

Annual Scientific Meetings & UAA Congress  
 Gold Coast 2022 65 
 UAA 2022 Congress, Sydney 66 
 Melbourne 2023 67 
 Adelaide 2024 67

Representative and Section Reports  
 Specialty Elected Councillor to RACS 68 
 Victoria 68 
 South Australia/Northern Territory 69 
 Northern 70 
 Aotearoa New Zealand 70 
 NSW 70

USANZ Prizes and Awards 72

USANZ 76th Annual General Meeting Agenda 73

Minutes from the 75th USANZ Annual General Meeting 74



USANZ Board of Directors
Prem Rashid: President, New South Wales Section 
Representative

Peter Heathcote: Past-President, Honorary 
Secretary, Honorary Treasurer, Northern Section 
Representative

Helen O’Connell: Vice-President 

Mark Frydenberg: Victoria Section Representative, 
RACS Urology Specialty Representative

Raj Gogia: Tasmanian Section Representative 

Tyrone Carlin: External Director (ceased 30 April 2022)

William (Bernie) Delaney: External Director  
(joined 27 August 2022)

Karen McKertich: Chair, ANZAUS  
(ceased 30 April 2022)

Henry Woo: Chair, ANZAUS (joined 30 April 2022)

John Miller: South Australia/Northern Territory 
Section Representative (resigned 31 July 2022)

Ashani Couchman: South Australia/Northern 
Territory Section Representative  
(joined 27 August 2022)

Robert Forsyth: Board of Urology Chair  
(ceased 30 April 2022)

Nestor Lalak: Board of Urology Chair  
(joined 30 April 2022)

Melvyn Kuan: Western Australia Section Representative

Leanne Shaw: Aotearoa New Zealand  
Section Representative 

USANZ Investment Committee
Peter Heathcote: Chair/USANZ Honorary Treasurer

Tyrone Carlin: USANZ External Director  
(ceased 30 April 2022)

John Miller: USANZ Director (resigned 31 July 2022)

Raj Gogia: USANZ Director (joined 27 August 2022)

USANZ Diversity  
& Inclusion Committee
Melvyn Kuan: Chair and USANZ Board Representative

Caroline Dowling: SWANZU Representative

Jared White: Aotearoa New Zealand  
Section Representative

Deanne Soares
Nadya York

USANZ Society Awards  
Nominations Committee
Peter Heathcote: Chair/USANZ Past-President

Helen O’Connell: USANZ Vice-President

Melvyn Kuan: USANZ Director

Daniel Christidis  
Scholarship Committee
Peter Heathcote: Chair/USANZ Past-President

Damien Bolton
Lydia Johns Putra

Special Advisory Group Leaders
Darren Katz: Andrology

Damien Bolton: Endourology 

Vincent Tse: Female Urology (ceased 24 June 2022)

Eva Fong: Female Urology (commenced 24 June 2022)

Kamran Zargar: Genitourinary Oncology  

Weranja Ranasinghe: Genitourinary Oncology 
Deputy SAG Leader (commenced 24 June 2022)

Eric Chung: Male Lower Urinary Tract 

Justin Chee: Paediatric/Reconstructive

Anita Clarke: SWANZU – Women in Urology

U S A N Z  S TA F F  2 0 2 2
Michael Nugara: Chief Executive Officer 

Madeleine Bennison: Membership and Policy Manager

Nick Danes: Chief Operating Officer  
(USANZ and ANZSCTS)

Deborah Klein: Education and Training Manager 

Jonathon Street: Communications Manager

Anna Tartakovskaia: Conference Manager 

Samantha Roberts: Communications Coordinator 
(from September 2022)

Katie Cook: Accounts Officer (part-time) 

Kirsten Isaacs: Training Administrator (part-time)

Suzi Wright: Executive Assistant and Governance 
Support (until August 2022)

U S A N Z  B OA R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S  
A N D  C O M M I T T E E S  2 0 2 2

1 USANZ  |  2022 Annual Report



Peter Heathcote

Raj Gogia Bernie Delaney  

Nestor Lalak Melvyn Kuan

Helen O’Connell Mark Frydenberg

Henry Woo

Leanne Shaw

Ashani Couchman

U S A N Z  B OA R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S  2 0 2 2

2USANZ  |  2022 Annual Report

Prem Rashid

Vision
The Society’s vision is to continue to work for its community to ensure the best 
access to the quality urological care its members provide.

Mission
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand is committed to clinical 
excellence, education, and the promotion of research and the dissemination of 
information on urological topics for the benefit of the community.

Values
• Excellence in professional standards

• Ethical standards of the highest order

• Patient safety

Michael Nugara 
(CEO)
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14 February 2023

To all Members,

 

Your Board of Directors has pleasure in submitting its report for the  

year ending 31 December 2022.

Yours sincerely

 
Prem Rashid

President 

Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand

 

P: +61 2 9362 8644 F: +61 2 9362 1433 ABN 64 880 438 690 
Suite 512 Eastpoint, 180 Ocean Street, Edgecliff, NSW 2027, Australia 
www.usanz.org.au
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President’s Report 
Prem Rashid
Kia Ora and Welcome!

We began the year with new COVID challenges 
to test our resilience. The stress of COVID issues 
as they affected workflow, uncertainty and 
encroachment on family safety were all front and 
centre for the third year in a row. Disruption to 
life, in general, appears to be likely for another 
12 months as we hope variants will become less 
aggressive and vaccine boosters help curtail 
significant infection. A backlog of work looms 
for many of us, especially in public services.

We can only live in the hope that 2023 will bring 
back some progressive normalcy. 

Meetings
Most of our meetings have been able to 
proceed as expected, including a very successful 
ASM on the Gold Coast and UAA in Sydney. 
I express heartfelt thanks to Anita Clarke and 
Manish Patel for the former and David Winkle, 
Eva Fong, and Shomik Sengupta for the latter. In 
addition, countless members offered their time 
as abstract reviewers, judges, session chairs and 
moderators to help bring everything together. 
The 2023 ASM in Melbourne in February is 
shaping up to be another innovative meeting 
led by Declan Murphy and Janelle Brennan. 
The Harry Harris Oration will commemorate 
the Christchurch earthquake and illustrate the 
significance of the Christchurch Medal. We 
thank the convenors and their team wishing 
them a successful ASM 2023.  

Congratulations, and thanks to all the 
Convenors who ran Section meetings this 
year. I’m grateful to Mark Frydenberg, Helen 
O’Connell and Peter Heathcote for attending 
the Melbourne, Adelaide and Hobart meetings, 
respectively, on my behalf. I was fortunate 
to meet many members at the Gold Coast, 
Geraldton and Wollongong meetings. The 
Aotearoa New Zealand meeting will be in 
March, and Helen, as our new President, 

will attend. Our meetings remain the most 
enjoyable way to reconnect and learn. In 2023, 
we will co-host the Continence Foundation of 
Australia (CFA) meeting with USANZ’s Functional 
Urology Symposium (FUS). Co-badged meetings 
are a great way for USANZ to engage with peer 
organisations and foster partnerships.

Diversity and Inclusion (D&I) Committee
Melvyn Kuan kindly agreed to take over from 
Karen McKertich and has continued to progress 
the important work in this area. You will notice 
several initiatives of the D&I committee in the 
coming months. One recent change has been in 
our corporate correspondence, which, as a mark 
of respect, now acknowledges the indigenous 
peoples on both sides of the Tasman. It has been 
gratifying to see this come to fruition. Thanks to 
the following members of the D&I committee:

Melvyn Kuan (Chair)

Caroline Dowling
Jared White
Deanne Soares
Nadya York

Pharmacy Antibiotic Dispensing
Queensland Health piloted a trial of pharmacists 
seeing patients and prescribing antibiotics 
for what they assess as a UTI. The protocol 
required a phone call in two weeks to check on 
the resolution of symptoms. USANZ, AMA and 
RACGP issued a statement calling for caution 
in bypassing primary care, especially in the 
absence of MSU assessment. There is no need to 
delegate UTIs to pharmacists, as the expansion 
of that could erode into other primary care. 
Caroline Dowling assisted with media output on 
the issue. Despite common sense opposition 
to this undermining of GPs in particular, the 
progress of this type of ‘solution’ to medical 
workforce issues has continued into a trial in 
NSW and Victoria. It is unlikely that this will be 
stopped, and we will probably see this become 
the norm across Australia. Pharmacists in New 
Zealand can already prescribe Trimethoprim. 

A N N UA L  R E P O R T S :  P R E S I D E N T ’ S  R E P O R T



PSA Assays and Reference Ranges
Some pathology services have adopted the 
Alin PSA, and with that, a more accurate but 
often higher PSA is recorded. This can raise 
a concern about the progression of prostate 
cancer risk. We have asked for an inclusion in 
parallel results as was done by other labs during 
any 12-month transition period. How the new 
‘more accurate’ PSAs reflect guideline-directed 
PSAs and comparative past PSAs can be difficult 
to reconcile. We appreciate that these are 
commercial decisions but continue to monitor 
the issue across Sections. 

Australasian Urological Foundation 
(AUF)
The Australasian Urological Foundation (AUF) 
generously funded group membership for 
our members for three years with the Société 
Internationale d’Urologie (SIU). For privacy 
reasons, it requires members to opt-in, as 
USANZ cannot pass personal details to another 
organisation. I encourage members to consider 
taking this up. Our thanks go to Michael Rochford 
(Chair), the AUF Board and Jean de la Rosette 
(SIU Secretary General) for their commitment and 
time to get us all to this point, and our USANZ 
Directors for their support. This agreement gives 
members of USANZ, who are also members of 
SIU, a unique opportunity to represent USANZ on 
another international stage in various roles. Henry 
Woo continues in the role of National Society 
Delegate, and the following appointments were 
confirmed after a call for expressions of interest: 

• Research Council: Ian Vela

• Education Council: Shomik Sengupta

• Scientific Council: Manish Patel

• Deputy National Society Delegate (to the 
National Delegate Board): Renu Eapen

PSA Position Statement
The PSA issue continues to gain momentum, 
with support groups encouraging us to increase 
awareness of PSA testing in the community. The 

RACGP plans to review the Red Book. USANZ 
and PCFA have extended assistance to them. 
We also need to remind pathology services 
about PSA thresholds that are too high and can 
thus delay referral. PCFA has secured funding 
to update the PSA Guidelines, and we hope this 
will come to fruition in the next 12-18 months. 
In the meantime, USANZ has produced an 
interim position statement that is available on 
our website. I thank Kamran Zargar and Weranja 
Ranasinghe for helping draft the statement 
for the Board. I encourage all members to 
disseminate this to GPs to help them remain 
current in light of the outdated Red Book advice.

Click here to view the interim Position 
Statement on the USANZ website. 

Aotearoa New Zealand Autonomy
This year, we engaged a working party to assist 
in understanding issues specific to the Aotearoa 
New Zealand Section. Meetings have been 
productive, and progress has been made. I 
thank Leanne Shaw, Mark Fraundorfer, Andrew 
Williams, Helen O’Connell, Raj Gogia and 
Michael Nugara for their involvement. Updates 
on relevant developments will be issued as they 
come to fruition.

Member Acknowledgment
Progress is being made on the Certificates 
of Service/Appreciation, so members are 
acknowledged for their pro bono work. We must 
ensure that members who help USANZ feel their 
time, energy and output are noticed. I thank 
Peter Heathcote for leading this initiative. In line 
with this, the Board is also finalising progress 
on introducing post-nominals for members. 
This initiative has become increasingly common 
in other peer groups (Cardiac Society, Colo-
Rectal and Orthopaedic). We hope this will be 
considered a key member benefit and be well-
received.

A N N UA L  R E P O R T S :  P R E S I D E N T ’ S  R E P O R T
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https://usanz.org.au/publicassets/b92f3bb4-152f-ed11-9116-0050568796d8/PositionStatement_PSAScreeningInAustNZ_Final_4Sept2022.pdf
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Special Advisory Group Leaders
I thank our SAG Leads who continue volunteering 
their time to progress our cause for members. 

• Andrology: Darren Katz

• Endourology: Damien Bolton

• Female Urology: Vincent Tse (retired in 2022), 
Eva Fong (appointed in 2022)

• Genitourinary Oncology: Kamran Zargar with 
Weranja Ranasinghe (as Deputy)

• Male Lower Urinary Tract: Eric Chung

• Paediatric/Reconstructive: Justin Chee

• Women in Urology (SWANZU): Anita Clarke

EOIs
There are many specific roles USANZ members 
can play across ANZ and the globe with our 
peer organisations. We are increasing diversity 
in our representatives, and it is important to 
ensure that senior members consider where they 
can relinquish a role to make way for others. 

Membership Benefits
The USANZ Member Activity Report provides 
details about activities undertaken during 
the year by USANZ, ANZAUS, and the many 
members who contribute their time and 
expertise to the Society. The Report collates 
information from 15 areas of the Society’s 
work and provides an overview of the scope 
of activities undertaken for and by members. 
This document will continue to be updated so 
activity is monitored and reported to members 
each year.  

Website
We have received feedback that we could 
use our website for more member activity. 
We hope to link information sheets that 
Nathan Lawrentschuk and the YURO team 

have prepared so members can access and 
customise these for their use. The portal could 
also be used for educational teaching aids, and 
once verified by our SAGs, these will be made 
available.

Cyber Security
This area of business activity remains a worry. 
With a significant increase in cybercrime, we are 
ensuring that our systems are robust in light of 
recent issues at Optus and Medibank Private.

Exams
All exams have been conducted without any 
glitches this year. I extend thanks to all members 
of the various examination committees, 
especially John Stanley, our Senior Examiner.

Ambition, Innovation and Reality
USANZ is a relatively small organisation. Our 
strategy day was successful but highlighted how 
limited staff resources might affect what we can 
achieve in the short term. I await reporting of 
some of the initiatives that can be delivered.

Changes on the Board
I thank John Miller for years of service, including 
as Chair of the Board of Urology (2009-2012), 
ASM Convenor (2015), FEX Examiner and many 
years as a Director. His straight-to-the-point 
manner was sometimes what was needed to 
bring clarity. I wish him well as he transitions to 
retirement, spending more time with his family. 
In doing so, I welcome Ashani Couchman as the 
Director representing the SA/NT Section. Bernie 
Delaney is formally welcomed as an External 
Director, attending his first BoD meeting in 
November. He has proven to be very useful in 
several governance and Board management 
areas, and I look forward to working with him. 
We are resuming the search for the second 
External Director position.

A N N UA L  R E P O R T S :  P R E S I D E N T ’ S  R E P O R T
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A thank you to my fellow Directors who assist 
in multiple ways. It has been a very busy year, 
and I hope all of you managed to get some rest 
during the recent festive and holiday season.

• Peter Heathcote: Past-President, Secretary, 
Treasurer, Northern Representative

• Helen O’Connell: Vice-President

• Henry Woo: ANZAUS Chair

• Ashani Couchman: SA/NT Representative

• Melvyn Kuan: WA Representative

• Raj Gogia: TAS Representative

• Mark Frydenberg: VIC Representative and 
RACS Specialty Elected Councillor to RACS

• Leanne Shaw: Aotearoa New Zealand 
Representative

• Nestor Lalak: Chair, Board of Urology, RACS

• Bernie Delaney: External Director

I further extend thanks to our team at the 
central USANZ office. They include:

Madeleine Bennison: Membership and  
Policy Manager 

Anna Tartakovskaia: Conference Manager

Jonathon Street: Communications Manager 

Deborah Klein: Education and Training Manager

Kirsten Isaacs: Training Administrator

Katie Cook: Accounts Officer 

Nick Danes: Chief Operating Officer

Samantha Roberts: Communications Coordinator

Primary external consultants:

Nigel Finch: Finance Manager 

Jan Shaw  

Added thanks to our CEO Michael Nugara 
for his staff leadership, professionalism, and 
dedication. 

This is my last Annual Report, and I want to 
thank members for their support and trust over 
the last two years. I am confident that Helen 
O’Connell will expertly represent USANZ when 
she assumes the Presidency in February.

A N N UA L  R E P O R T S :  P R E S I D E N T ’ S  R E P O R T



Chief Executive Officer’s Report 
Michael Nugara
After two years of COVID-related disruptions to 
business operations, we saw a gradual return to 
in-person activities and this trend looks like it will 
continue into 2023.

The Member Activity Report, first published 
for the 2021 year, has been generated again 
for 2022 highlighting the enormous amount 
of work carried out by USANZ and many 
members who selflessly give their time for the 
benefit of the Society. Noted below are some 
highlights, however, the activity report provides 
a comprehensive outline of activities carried 
out during the year as well as outlining member 
benefits and opportunities. 

Advocacy
During the year, USANZ partnered with RACS to 
advocate on several issues including protecting 
the use of the title ‘surgeon’, prostheses list 
bundling arrangements, and the Honeysuckle 
Health managed care plan. We are fortunate 
to have Mark Frydenberg leading the RACS 
advocacy team. 

The Diversity and Inclusion Committee continued 
their work. The Board approved our Indigenous 
Health Position Statement during the year 
and other initiatives have been implemented 
including acknowledgement of traditional 
landowners on correspondence and on the 
Society’s website. 

When planning meetings, USANZ has been 
actively working to ensure gender balance 
with presenters, session chairs and panellists. 
The Board is formalising this process and 
has approved a Panel Pledge to increase the 
visibility and contribution of women in public 
and professional forums. This Pledge will be 
incorporated into a policy in early 2023.  

The SWANZU (Surgical Women in Australian and 
New Zealand Urology) special interest community 
held a dinner meeting during the ASM in June, 
chaired by Anita Clarke. The meeting was a 
great success. We look forward to working with 
SWANZU to develop strategies to support 

female urologists and working collaboratively to 
address barriers to women pursuing urology as a 
career. SWANZU has scheduled another dinner 
meeting at the ASM in February 2023.  

The Society’s relationships with global urological 
associations continue to strengthen. David 
Winkle’s Presidency enhances our profile within 
UAA. With the resumption of in-person meetings, 
the joint program with the EAU and the USANZ 
BAUS BJUI symposium at the AUA increase our 
international profile and collaboration.      

Member Support
With the easing of COVID-related restrictions, 
USANZ was able to provide members with 
educational meetings with the resumption of 
the ASM as an in-person meeting. The ASM was 
delayed until June due to COVID restrictions 
starting to ease in early 2022. The attendance at 
the Gold Coast Convention Centre exceeded 900 
delegates, and attendees enjoyed the opportunity 
to meet in person. The ASM was a great success, 
and I would like to acknowledge the sustained 
commitment by the Convenor, Anita Clarke and 
Scientific Committee Chair, Manish Patel. 

USANZ achieved a significant milestone in 2022, 
hosting the Urological Association of Asia (UAA) 
Congress in Sydney. USANZ won the hosting 
rights to the UAA Congress in 2018 and was 
supposed to hold the meeting in August 2021. 
The Congress was rescheduled to October 
2022 due to COVID delays. These setbacks 
did not dampen the enthusiasm to deliver an 
outstanding Congress. Congress Chair and 
(then) UAA President-elect, David Winkle, led 
the congress planning strongly supported by 
the Scientific Program Committee Co-Chairs Eva 
Fong and Shomik Sengupta.  

Securing sponsorship for the Congress was 
very challenging, with scepticism from industry 
regarding whether the Congress would go ahead 
and, if it did proceed, whether there would be 
attendees from the 26 UAA member nations. 
While attendance was lower than pre-COVID 
congresses, it was better than anticipated, with 
more than 900 delegates from 42 countries. 

A N N UA L  R E P O R T S :  C E O  R E P O R T
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In 2021 only the Northern and WA Sections held 
in-person meetings. It was, therefore, pleasing 
that other sections resumed in-person meetings 
in 2022 (except for the Aotearoa New Zealand 
Section meeting, which held its meeting online), 
providing members with the opportunity to 
accrue CPD points while also enjoying the 
collegiality missed over the last two years. 

The availability of the UroChat community 
platform continued during 2022. We made 
enhancements to streamline login from the 
USANZ website; however, we recognise that 
UroChat is not as user-friendly as the previous 
discussion forum (i.e., Netwit), and we will assess 
the options and alternatives in 2023.

The USANZ-funded subscriptions to BJUI 
Knowledge and EAU membership offered to 
members continue to be well-received, and the 
opportunity to accrue CPD points through BJUIK 
(with automated upload to RACS) also assists 
members with their CPD obligations.  

The BJUI USANZ Supplement continues to 
provide members with a high-quality journal 
tailored for USANZ. Nathan Lawrentschuk edits 
this online publication, and we are grateful for his 
continued commitment to this role. 

Standards of Clinical Care 
Special Advisory Groups (SAG) continued their 
important role during the year, addressing 
scientific issues in the public domain and 
internally. Respective SAGs played key roles in 
developing revised and new position statements 
during 2022. These included the updated PSA 
Policy and a new statement on Credentialling to 
Perform Abdominal Sacrocolpopexy.   

In 2022, SAG Leader terms concluded, and those 
leaders who were eligible opted to continue for 
a second term; these included: Genitourinary 
oncology – Kamran Zargar, Endourology – 
Damien Bolton, Andrology – Darren Katz, 
Paediatric and Reconstruction – Justin Chee, and 
LUTS – Eric Chung. Eva Fong succeeded Vincent 
Tse who completed his second term as FUSAG 
Leader. Given the disproportionate workload 

managed by the Genitourinary oncology SAG, 
the Board appointed Weranja Ranasinghe as 
deputy SAG Leader to assist Kamran Zargar. I 
want to acknowledge the significant contribution 
of the SAG Leaders during their terms, and we 
look forward to their continued support.  

In 2022 the Board of Urology (BoU), under Nestor 
Lalak, continued their work in administrating the 
Royal Australasian College of Surgeons (RACS) 
training program. With the easing of restrictions, 
we welcomed the resumption of in-person 
trainee activities in their pre-COVID format, 
including Trainee Week in November. Many 
thanks to the convenor, Kathryn McLeod. 

Efficient and Effective Organisation
Work on establishing a suitable organisational 
structure to provide Aotearoa New Zealand 
members with the autonomy to address issues 
specific to them has progressed in a collegiate 
and harmonious manner. We anticipate progress 
continuing with a view to establishing the preferred 
structure along with the requisite support.   

At the time of writing, we are finalising the scope 
for a privacy audit. The objective of the audit is to 
review personal data collected and how we hold 
it, as well as ways to reduce potential exposure 
while enhancing cyber security protections. We 
have already implemented a change by replacing 
the date of birth data with the year of birth.  

Finally, I would like to acknowledge each of my 
colleagues in the USANZ office. Despite the ever-
increasing demands placed upon the team, they 
continue to display an extraordinary commitment 
to serving the Society and its members. While 
not all roles are visible to members, each has 
contributed significantly to USANZ’s success. 
I take this opportunity to express my sincere 
thanks to Kirsten Isaacs, Madeleine Bennison, 
Katie Cook, Jonathon Street, Deborah Klein, 
Anna Tartakovskaia, Samantha Roberts, and Nick 
Danes. I would also like to acknowledge the work 
of Nigel Finch and his team at Saki Partners.

A N N UA L  R E P O R T S :  C E O  R E P O R T
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USANZ recognises Aboriginal and Torres Strait Island people as the traditional 
landowners of Australia and the Māori as the tangata whenua (people of the land) 
of Aotearoa New Zealand and respects their continuing connection to culture, 
land, waterways, community and whānau/family.

This document builds on the report which was introduced in 2021 to provide details to members 
about activities undertaken during the year by USANZ, ANZAUS and the many members who 
contributed their time and expertise to the Society.
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Develop and enhance initiatives that are 
valued and respond to Member needs.

MEMBER SUPPORT 
AND OPPORTUNITIES 

MEMBER SUPPORT AND OPPORTUNITIES
4

1. MEMBER OPPORTUNITIES
USANZ actively seeks out opportunities for member participation across 
a range of international and local activities.

• 27 Calls for Expressions of Interest issued 
to Members (2021:10)

Speaking and other roles at international 
events

• 5 members selected as presenters for 
the joint EAU/USANZ session in Milan in 
March 2023

• Guest speaker at the 7th Nepal 
Association of Urological Surgeons Annual 
Meeting UROCON 2022

• Guest speaker at 31st Malaysian Urological 
Conference 2022

• UAA Lecturer at the AUA 2022 meeting in 
New Orleans

• 2 USANZ endorsed attendees at the 6th 
Asian Urology Residents’ Course 2022

• USANZ Lecturer at the Paulista Meeting of 
Urology in Sao Paulo 2022

• USANZ Presenter at Global Urology 
session at the BAUS 2022 Annual Meeting

• USANZ nominee to attend AMA (NSW) – 
Societies Forums

• Nominated member to present on 
Healthed webcast addressing management 
update on Enuresis in children

• 28 members submitted to AUA for 
consideration as abstract reviewers for the 
AUA 2023 meeting

• Nominated member to receive UAA 
Young Urologist Fellowship 2022

• Nominated member for AUA News 2023 
International Case Report Author

Service on USANZ and ANZAUS 
Committees and Working Groups

• USANZ Board of Directors

• ANZAUS Management Committee

• Diversity & Inclusion Committee

• Investments Committee

• Section leadership roles

• Special Advisory Group leadership roles

• Surgical Women in Australia and New 
Zealand Urology (SWANZU) Committee

• ASM Organising Committee

• UAA 2022 Organising Committee

• Aotearoa New Zealand Autonomy Project 
Working Group

• Functional Urology (FUS) NCOI Joint 
Meeting – Organising Committee

Service on RACS Board of Urology and 
BoU Committees and Working Groups

• RACS Board of Urology (BoU)

• Regional Training Committees 
(comprising Training Supervisors) 

• Education Sub-Committee

• Selection Sub-Committee 

• SIMG Sub-Committee 

• Training Post Accreditation Sub-
Committee 

• Urology Trainee Forum 

• Research Working Party

RACS Board of Urology also appoints its 
own representatives to sit on various RACS 
Committees.

MEMBER SUPPORT AND OPPORTUNITIES
513
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USANZ Awards and prizes and other recognition given to Members during the reporting 
period. Excludes prizes awarded to non-Members.

2. GRANTS, AWARDS & OTHER 
 MEMBER RECOGNITION 

Alban Gee 
Award 

ASM Award

Christchurch 
Medal for 

Community 
Service  

Society Award

Keith 
Kirkland 
Award  

ASM Award

Daniel 
Christidis 

Scholarship 

USANZ 
Honorary 
Member  

Society Award
2 recipients 

Frank 
Gardiner 
Award

Training Award

AstraZeneca 
Platinum 
Trophy 

ASM Award

Villis Marshall 
Award 

ASM Award

Peter Lawson 
Award for 

Best Registrar 

VIC Section 

BAUS 
Trophy

ASM Award

Best Victorian 
Registrar 

Presentation 
prize 

VIC Section

Chris Farrell 
Award 

for Best 
Registrar 

Presentation  

NSW  Section

MEMBER SUPPORT AND OPPORTUNITIES
6

Frank 
Gardiner 
Award

 Northern 
Section

George 
Schnitzler 

Award 
for Best 
Registrar 

NSW Section 

USANZ has identifi ed 2 priority areas where it can take steps to address barriers to participation 
by members in the Society and their broader profession.

3. ADDRESSING BARRIERS 
 TO PARTICIPATION 

MEMBER SUPPORT AND OPPORTUNITIES
7

Discrimination and Inclusion

• Endorsed Aotearoa New Zealand Section of 
USANZ Position Statement on Institutional Racism

• Developed the USANZ Indigenous Health Position 
Statement, affi rming USANZ’s endorsement and 
adoption of the Royal Australasian College of 
Surgeons (RACS) Indigenous Health Position 
Paper which outlines RACS’ ongoing obligations 
under Te Tiriti o Waitangi (The Treaty of Waitangi), 
the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of 
Indigenous People (UNDRIP) and the Close the 
Gap Statement of Intent

• Developed Submitting Content for Publication 
policy to establish a mechanism for members 
to submit content that highlights members’ 
achievements, for publication across USANZ 
communications channels

• Amended offi cial email signature blocks to 
promote USANZ’s recognition of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander peoples as the traditional 
landowners of Australia and the Māori as the 
tangata whenua (people of the land) of Aotearoa 
New Zealand and out respect for their continuing 
connection to culture, land, waterways, community 
and whānau/family

• Provided fi nancial contribution towards Hei 
Āhuru Mōwai Māori Cancer Leadership’s efforts in 
producing a session at the Aotearoa NZ Section 
meeting and for recommendations to making 
USANZ more culturally safe and competent

• Committed to including a session at each 
Aotearoa New Zealand Section meeting devoted 
to Māori health, research and education, designed 
with Māori input

Women in Urology

• ASM gender split of panellists/
speakers tracked and reported 

• Held inaugural Women in Urology 
dinner at the 2022 ASM 

• Issued statement on the Roe vs Wade 
decision in the USA in support of 
our peers in the American Urologists 
Association (AUA)

• Panel Pledge approved to increase 
the visibility and contribution of 
women in public and professional 
forums. This will be incorporated into 
a policy in 2023 
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4. EVENTS 
The provision of educational events is a key service to the membership to highlight 
contemporary issues in urology and to assist members with CPD obligations. 2022 saw the 
return of our premier event, the Annual Scientifi c Meeting which had been cancelled in 2020 
and 2021 due to restrictions related to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Number of Attendees at USANZ Meetings

724 2022 ASM: 
Panel Gender 
representation 36 79 115

2022 Annual 
Scientifi c 
Meeting

WA Section 
Meeting

Northern 
Section 
Meeting

Victorian 
Section 
Meeting

136  26 49 203 176
NSW 

Section 
Meeting

Tasmanian  
Section 
Meeting

SA/NT  Section 
Meeting

Aotearoa 
New Zealand   

Section 
Meeting

Trainee Week

44 19 17 116 199
Induction 
Course for 

SET Urology 
Trainees

BSCI Anatomy 
and Prosthetics 

Workshop 
(Trainees)

Cook Medical 
PCNL Workshop 

(Trainees)

NSW Education 
Program:

4 teaching 
sessions 

(Trainees)

VIC Education 
Program:

3 teaching 
sessions, 

6 skills lab 
sessions, 

1 teaching 
weekend

MEMBER SUPPORT AND OPPORTUNITIES
8

* The number of attendees 
 excludes sponsors & exhibitors.

PRESENTERS CHAIRS

63 37 53 47

The core member benefi ts aim to inform members about USANZ activities, share information 
relevant to the craft, provide Continuing Professional Development and other opportunities to 
connect with other members.  

Communications

Professional
• BJUI ANZ Supplement

• BJUI Journal subscription discount

• BJUI Compass – 30% discount on fee to 
submit article to BJUI Compass

• BJUI Knowledge CPD portal - access 
provided to 592 members (2021: 580) with 
auto upload to RACS CPD portal

• EAU Membership taken out on behalf of 
626 members (2021: 613)

• 40 Free Positions Vacant advertisements 
posted to the USANZ website and 
distributed via the UroNews newsletter

• Discounted MDO Insurance through the 
Avant Affi nity Program with more than 255 
members (2021: 260) members utilising the 
member discount

• Member Logo and Member Certifi cates 
available upon request to promote Society 
Membership

• 40 Letters confi rming membership 
provided to support member applications 
to international societies or to certify status 
for other bodies

• Provided additional 20% discount on 
registration to the ASM and $100 discount 
to attend the Gala Dinner to encourage 
reconnection of members at the meeting 
after the 2020 and 2021 event cancellations 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic

Member Connection
• Member Directory

• UroChat Community

 The Board is aware of member 
dissatisfaction of the Communities platform 
and completed a project to activate Single 
Sign On, so members can access UroChat 
via their USANZ Member Dashboard 
without the need for a separate log on. This 
was to be the fi rst of two planned initiatives 
to improve member experience, with the 
other being a dedicated app. The SSO has 
been implemented.

 Unfortunately, this project highlighted 
an incompatibility with some members 
running certain practice software on a 
32-bit based environment, an environment 
that is no longer supported. USANZ is 
exploring options in this space as returning 
to a LISTSERV environment, as was used 
for Netwit, is not viable and has signifi cant 
security risks and potential legal issues. 
Alternatives will be explored in the 
coming year.

5. CORE MEMBER BENEFITS

UroNews: 
Weekly Member Update

48 issues 
Average open rate: 69% (2021: 59%) 

Average click rate:  23.5% (2021: 31%)

UroScope: 
Update from the USANZ Board of Directors

4 issues
Average open rate: 72% (2021: 66%) 
Average click rate: 32% (2021: 46%)

MEMBER SUPPORT AND OPPORTUNITIES
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Be the authoritative voice 
for our Members with 
health decision-makers.

ADVOCACY 

ADVOCACY
10

6. SUBMISSIONS: ADVOCACY FOR  
 UROLOGICAL PROFESSION

ADVOCACY

USANZ and ANZAUS submissions or other actions taken, to advocate for the profession of 
urology and its members included:

• Expressed support to the Ukrainian 
Urological Association

• Made a joint submission with RACS, the 
Australian and New Zealand Society for 
Vascular Surgery, and General Surgeons 
Australia to the Independent Health and 
Aged Care Pricing Authority regarding 
bundling arrangements for general use 
Items on the Prostheses List

• Endorsed RACS Submission to the Australian 
Medical Association hearing in the Australian 
Competition Tribunal on the application 
by Honeysuckle Healthcare Pty Ltd and 
other applicants (NIB) ‘buying group’

• Provided input into the RACS 
Professional Standards Board feedback 
on Australian Medical Council’s criteria 
in relation to CPD Homes, supporting 
the alignment of the CPD Program to 
surgical competencies and inclusion of 
participation in the Australian and New 
Zealand Audit of Surgical Mortality

• Raised members’ concerns about a 
change to PSA assay with Dorevitch 
Pathology. The correspondence and draft 
guidelines that were being prepared by 
the pathologist for referring doctors were 
issued to members

• Declined to provide a formal 
recommendation to hospital on 
whether or not histology should be 
sent concurrently when vasectomy 

is undertaken. Supported treatment 
consistent with the AUA guideline 
statement on the matter and provided 
Australian Government ASERNIPS Review 
from 2003 as a reference

• Andrology SAG Leader quoted in article 
raising awareness of male infertility treatment

• ANZAUS provided input to the Medical 
Benefi ts Division, Australian Government 
Department of Health on proposed 
changes to the paediatric surgery 
MBS items and explanatory notes to 
further delineate complex and simple 
circumcision revision services

• ANZAUS provided feedback to the Medicare 
Benefi ts Schedule (MBS) item descriptors 
and fees for Lutetium PSMA i&t for 
metastatic castrate resistant prostate cancer

• USANZ responded to consultation 
survey on MSAC application in relation 
to Abdominal Magnetic Resonance 
Imaging for rare genetic conditions 
associated with increased risk of renal 
tumours

• ANZAUS commented on the MBS item 
Renal Cell Carcinoma cryoablation item 
descriptor and explanatory notes

• Requested RACS assistance for 
representation to NSW Health to assist 
members and others providing surgical 
services to manage issues as a result of the 
Lismore fl oods
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• Provided input into the draft RACS 
position statement on Best Practice 
Surgical Titling and endorsed fi nal RACS 
position in relation to which medical 
practitioners should be able to use the 
term ‘surgeon’ in their titles

• Reviewed and co-signed the RACS Health 
Policy and Advocacy’s submission on the 
Transparent Patient Outcomes Bill 2021: 
a Federal government bill concerning 
surgical transparency for patients of surgical 
data registries in the public domain

• Provided input to RACS Health Policy 
and Advocacy Committee relating to 
their commentary on a draft research 
paper prepared by the Australian Medical 
Association in relation to their proposal for 
the establishment of the Private Health 
System Authority

• Provided in principle support to RACS for 
the Australian Medical Association (AMA) 
proposal to establish a Private Health 
System Authority

• Contacted major pathology providers 
regarding the reports on semen analysis, 
suggesting that referral to a urologist 
should be included in the report 
comments section

• Provided feedback to RACS Professional 
Skills Curriculum

6. CONTINUED

12

USANZ pursues formal representation on external committees/groups to ensure urologists’ 
professional interests have a voice with decision-makers as well as providing a platform for 
members in international forums. Representative appointments are either ex-offi cio roles or 
appointments made under the USANZ Representation on External Committees Policy.

USANZ also nominates members to the other external committees/groups where they fi ll roles 
that are not offi cial USANZ roles but are still important to urologists’ professional interests. 

USANZ Representative positions in 2022

• American Urological Association (AUA) 
International Member Committee

• Australian Medical Association (NSW) 
Societies Forum

• British Journal of Urology International 
Charity

• RACS Professional Standards and 
Fellowship Services Committee (PSFSC)

• RACS Surgical Leaders’ Forum

• Societie International d’Urologie (SIU) 
National Society Delegate

• SIU Deputy National Society Delegate

• Urological Association of Asia (UAA) 
Elected Council

• UAA Internal Auditor

Non-USANZ roles fi lled by Urologists

• 6 members participated in the Australian 
Department of Health Medical Costs 
Finder Project Specialist Workshop series 
in 2021 and 2022

7. COMMITTEES: ADVOCACY 
 FOR UROLOGICAL PROFESSION 

ADVOCACY
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USANZ Representative positions in 2022

• American Urological Association (AUA) 
International Member Committee

• Australian Medical Association (NSW) 
Societies Forum

• British Journal of Urology International 
Charity

• RACS Professional Standards and 
Fellowship Services Committee (PSFSC)

• RACS Surgical Leaders’ Forum

• Societie International d’Urologie (SIU) 
National Society Delegate

• SIU Deputy National Society Delegate

• Urological Association of Asia (UAA) 
Elected Council

• UAA Internal Auditor

Non-USANZ roles fi lled by Urologists

• 6 members participated in the Australian 
Department of Health Medical Costs 
Finder Project Specialist Workshop series 
in 2021 and 2022

7. COMMITTEES: ADVOCACY 
 FOR UROLOGICAL PROFESSION 

ADVOCACY
1322



23 USANZ  |  2022 Annual ReportCLINICAL STANDARDS

Use Member expertise to promote and 
advance high standards of clinical care.

CLINICAL 
STANDARDS

14

CLINICAL STANDARDS

USANZ pursues formal representation on external committees/groups to ensure specialist 
urological expertise informs clinical care. USANZ also nominates members to other external 
committees/groups where they fi ll roles that are not offi cial USANZ roles, but where urological 
expertise informs clinical care.

USANZ Representative 
positions held during 2022

• Asian Robotic Urology Society (ARUS) 
Committee (UAA)

• Australasian Pelvic Floor Procedure Registry 
(APFPR) (Monash University)

• BJUI Journal Editorial Committee

• Continence Foundation Australia (CFA) 
Technical Reference Group for NQS Project

• European Association of Urology (EAU) 
Guidelines Committee

• International Journal of Urology (IJU) 
Editorial Board (USANZ Nominated UAA 
Member)

• PCOR-ANZ Steering Committee 

• RACS Robotic Surgery Working Party

• RACS Rural Health Equity Advisory and 
Reference Group

• RACS Surgical Oncology Section Committee

• Safer Care Victoria Expert Working Group

• SIU Research Council

• SIU Scientifi c Council

• SIU Education Council

• TGA Surgical Mesh Expert Working Group 
(Therapeutic Goods Administration)

• Advisory Role on Primary HealthCare 
Research Data Infrastructure Grant 
to Enhance Prostate Cancer Shared 
Care Integration (PEPSI), (University of 
Melbourne)

• Urinary Stone Disease Working Group 
(NSW Section Rep) (NSW Agency for 
Clinical Innovation Urology Network)

Non-USANZ roles fi lled by Urologists

• 3 members nominated for consideration 
for appointments to PCOR-ANZ Advisory 
Committee, Data Advisory Committee and 
Governance Committee

• 2 members nominated for consideration 
to AUA International Urologic Research 
Working Group

8. EXTERNAL COMMITTEES
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USANZ made a number of submissions or responded to queries 
related to improvements in clinical standards of care. 

 

• USANZ and the Board of Urology 
completed the Gap Analysis tool designed 
to gather baseline data for the Rural Health 
Equity Strategy – Advisory Group

• Provided feedback and support to Royal 
Australasian College of Radiologists 
(RANZCR) on its proposal for specialty 
recognition for Interventional Radiology 
as a specialty practice within radiology

• In collaboration with the Prostate Cancer 
Foundation Australia (PCFA), contacted 
the Royal Australian College of General 
Practitioners (RACGP) to offer our services 
to assist in their review of the RACGP Red 
Book Prostate-Specifi c Antigen testing 
guideline (PSA testing)

• Lodged a submission into the Independent 
Review of the Regulation of Health 
Practitioners in cosmetic surgery that 
was commissioned by Australian Health 
Practitioner Regulation Agency (AHPRA) 
and the Medical Board of Australia. 
USANZ also formally supported the RACS 
submission to the Review

• Responded to Agency for Clinical 
Innovation (NSW) query in relation to 
stages and treatment of cytoreductive 
nephrectomy in metastatic renal cell 
carcinoma (mRCC)

• Raised concerns and sought correction 
of an Instagram post under the NSW 
Department of Health banner which listed 
incorrect information about the signs and 
symptoms of prostate cancer 

• Provided clarifi cation of USANZ Position 
Statement on MRI for Prostate Cancer to 
the Department of Veteran Affairs

• Advised members on the application of 
USANZ Guidelines on the Principles of 
Urological Healthcare Management in the 
Covid Era in respect of peer review

• Responded to member query regarding 
the centralisation of cystectomy as per 
EAU guidelines. USANZ endorsement of 
guidelines confi rmed, but that Australia and 
New Zealand must strike a balance between 
service availability and measured outcomes 
as there is an obligation to deliver care 
closer to home where possible provided 
similar outcomes can be achieved

• Participated in an interview in relation to 
Minomic’s MiCheck® Prostate product, 
an algorithm to differentiate aggressive 
prostate cancer from non-aggressive or non-
cancer patients

9. SUBMISSIONS: 
 CLINICAL STANDARDS 
 & PATIENT CARE

CLINICAL STANDARDS
16

USANZ Position Statements and Guidelines

• Developed Position Statement on 
Credentialling – Abdominal Sacrocolpopexy 
in response to ACSQHC identifi cation of 
a lack of credentialling guidance. Position 
statement was endorsed by RACS and 
is intended to assist hospitals with their 
implementation of credentialling of that 
procedure

• Developed Position Statement on PSA 
Testing to serve as an interim document for 
the optimised use of PSA testing in Australia 
and New Zealand until the Prostate Cancer 
Foundation of Australia (PCFA) and Royal 
Australian College of General Practitioners 
(RACGP) guidelines are updated

10. PATIENT CARE  
  GUIDELINES 
  & POSITION
  STATEMENTS

CLINICAL STANDARDS

• Promoted awareness of the 
Prostate Cancer Outcome 
Registry - Australia and New 
Zealand (PCOR-ANZ) to New 
Zealand members to encourage 
their participation

• Promoted survey by Agency 
for Clinical Innovation (NSW) to 
members to ensure urological 
input into clinical practice guide 
for urinary stone disease which 
they intend to develop

• Responded to query from a 
District Health Service in Victoria 
on the use of amoxycillin/clav 
acid in surgical prophylaxis and 
procedures, advising to engage 
with local ID unit and consult 
infectious diseases physician

• Provided letter of support for 
research project to develop a 
penile cancer app

• Facilitated SET Urology Training 
Supervisors’ participation in a 
survey being sent to all public 
hospitals across Australia and 
New Zealand regarding Post 
Prostate Cancer Management in 
the Public Health Sector

1725
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USANZ and its members are committed to delivering the RACS Surgical Education and 
Training (SET) Program in Urology, ensuring the education and training is at a consistently 
high standard, and delivered within safe and optimal environments that are compliant with 
accreditation standards. 

105 344 63
Trainees Trainers Training Supervisors

15 30 2
Trainees admitted 

to Fellowship 
after completing 

SET Program

Training Posts 
Inspected and 

Accredited

Fellowship 
Examinations 

(May and September)

*  SET Program Development: During 2022 members participated in the development of the 
new competency-based training program, including Entrustable Professional Activities

11. TRAINING & 
  EDUCATION PROGRAM

CLINICAL STANDARDS
18

CLINICAL STANDARDS
1927
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Be an effi cient and 
enduring Society, 
continuing to serve 
Members into the future.

EFFICIENT 
& EFFECTIVE 
ORGANISATION 

EFFICIENT AND EFFECTIVE ORGANISATION
20

EFFICIENT AND EFFECTIVE ORGANISATION

A considerable amount of progress was made on the 
Aotearea New Zealand Section (AoNZ) Autonomy Project, 
with the USANZ Board and Project Working Group reaching 
in principle agreement on a governance model that will 
provide greater autonomy for New Zealand urologists. 
The model will continue to be fl eshed out in 2023 and it is 
anticipated discussions will be held with members during 
the 2023 Section meetings.

Work to improve digital systems and processes continued 
throughout 2022. With the increased focus on privacy and 
security measures, a project was initiated to evaluate and 
then improve protections in place.

• As an immediate step, USANZ removed the exact date of 
birth data from its membership database. USANZ will collect 
only the year of birth to assist in workforce planning initiatives

12. AOTEAROA NZ
  SECTION AUTONOMY
  PROJECT

13. DIGITAL    
  TRANSFORMATION

2129



30USANZ  |  2022 Annual Report

Be an effi cient and 
enduring Society, 
continuing to serve 
Members into the future.

EFFICIENT 
& EFFECTIVE 
ORGANISATION 

EFFICIENT AND EFFECTIVE ORGANISATION
20

EFFICIENT AND EFFECTIVE ORGANISATION

A considerable amount of progress was made on the 
Aotearea New Zealand Section (AoNZ) Autonomy Project, 
with the USANZ Board and Project Working Group reaching 
in principle agreement on a governance model that will 
provide greater autonomy for New Zealand urologists. 
The model will continue to be fl eshed out in 2023 and it is 
anticipated discussions will be held with members during 
the 2023 Section meetings.

Work to improve digital systems and processes continued 
throughout 2022. With the increased focus on privacy and 
security measures, a project was initiated to evaluate and 
then improve protections in place.

• As an immediate step, USANZ removed the exact date of 
birth data from its membership database. USANZ will collect 
only the year of birth to assist in workforce planning initiatives

12. AOTEAROA NZ
  SECTION AUTONOMY
  PROJECT

13. DIGITAL    
  TRANSFORMATION

2130



31 USANZ  |  2022 Annual Report

2022 was a busy year with a large number of transactions associated with the increased activity in 
events. Improvements in reporting continue to be rolled out. Policy decisions of note:

• Resolved to continue with the current 
investment strategy of investing in 
international ETFs

• Formalised Policy for Calculating Interest 
on Australian Sections’ Balances

USANZ’s policy work during 2022 also included the review of number of operational and 
governance areas which are not reported elsewhere.

• Election of Vice-President Policy (review)

• USANZ Travel Policy (review and 
expansion)

• Complaints About Member Policy (new)

• Rules and Guidelines for Society Awards

14. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

15. OTHER POLICIES/PROCEDURES

EFFICIENT AND EFFECTIVE ORGANISATION
22

EFFICIENT AND EFFECTIVE ORGANISATION
2331
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Secretary’s Report 2022  
Peter Heathcote
The Board of Directors of the Society met during 
2022 as follows:

• 21 February 2022: Circular

• 4 March 2022: Circular

• 14 March 2022: Video Conference

• 22 March 2022: Circular

• 26 March 2022: Video Conference

• 6 April 2022: Circular

• 10 May 2022: Circular

• 24 May 2022: Circular

• 30 May 2022: Circular

• 5 June 2022: Circular

• 24 June 2022: Face-to-Face

• 29 June 2022: Circular

• 27 August 2022: Face-to-Face

• 28 October 2022: Circular

• 26 November 2022: Video Conference

The USANZ Constitution identifies the following 
Director roles and tenure periods.

President: 2  terms of 1 year each

Vice-President: 2 terms of 1 year each

Past-President/Honorary Treasurer/Honorary 
Secretary: 2 terms of 1 year each

ANZAUS Chair: 2 terms of 3 years each

Board of Urology Chair: 1 term of 2 years

Specialty Elected Royal Australasian College  
of Surgeons Councillor (RACS Councillor): 
3 terms of 3 years each

Sectional Representatives: 2 terms of 3 years each

2 x External Directors: 2 terms of 3 years each 

Membership
Since the last Annual Report, the following 
changes have occurred:

Admitted as Full Members
Modher Al-Shawi
Anthony Dat
Luke Gibson
Simon Harley
Ned Kinnear
Kiran Manya
Anton Mare
Daniel McConnell
Michael Myint
Sunny Nalavenkata
Jean O’Riordan
Sumeet Reddy
Jay Roberts
Aditya Sharma
Andrew Shepherd
Deanne Soares

Associate Urological Member
Bradley (Scott) McCowan

Associate Member
Anne Hong
Kalonji Tony Nzembela (Tony)
Samuel Sii

Corresponding Member
Alireza Ghadian
Veeru Kasivisvanathan

A N N UA L  R E P O R T S :  S E C R E TA RY ’ S  R E P O R T
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w www.usanz.org.au 
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Trainee Members
Elliot Peter Anderson 
Dominic Bagguley 
Oliver Best 
Alexandar (Alex) Blazevski 
Magnus Cheesman 
Christopher (Chris) Ciampa 
Thomas Clarkson 
Daniel Costello 
Paul Doan 
Hanna (John) El-Khoury 
Bishoy Hanna (previously ASM)
Stuart Robert Jackson 
Mo Li (previously ASM)
Xuan Rui (Sean) Ong 
Cameron Parkin 
Bradley Robert Reynolds 
Benjamin (Ben) Storey 
Jo-Lynn (Jo) Tan 
Pravin Viswambaram 

Honorary Member
Tyrone Carlin
Sanjay Kulkarni

Cessation of Membership
Tevita Aho (CO)

Nicholas Brook (FM)

Charles Chabert (FM)

Trent Farebrother (FM)

Marc Heinau (FM)

Tim Loke (CO)

Stephen Mark (FM)

Bronwyn Matheson (AM)

Maurice Mulcahy (FM)

Michael O’Callaghan (M)

Aleksandr Pecherkin (CO)

John Preston (FM)

Sur Hariom Singh (AUM)

David Sofield (FM)

Alan Stapleton (FM)

Claire Taylor (CO)

Chloe Wilcox (TM)

Deaths
Remo Cantamessa
Peter Harbison
George Janiszewski 
Lionel Lukin
Harry G Watts

A N N UA L  R E P O R T S :  S E C R E TA RY ’ S  R E P O R T

35 USANZ  |  2022 Annual Report



A N N UA L  R E P O R T S :  T R E A S U R E R’ S  R E P O R T

36

Treasurer’s Report 
Peter Heathcote
In addition to returning to the regular format for 
Section meetings, in 2022, the Society hosted 
both the Annual Scientific Meeting (ASM) and 
the Urological Association of Asia Congress 
(UAA 2022) as face-to-face meetings.

As such, the 2022 revenue from operations was 
significantly higher than last year due to events 
revenue of $2.8 million (UAA 2022 $1.165 million; 
ASM 2022 $1.765 million) and government 
grants of $0.13 million. Interest income and 
distributions on the ETF portfolio were also 
higher in 2022. 

Our increased events activity was a key 
contributor to the increase in operating costs 
from $2.547 million in 2021 to $5.401 million 
in 2022. There were also increases in other 
costs including Consultants, who are used 
for a variety of specialist activities across all 
operations including various aspects of the 
training program, accounting services, media, 
human resources, and information technology. 
The decision to engage a consultant is generally 
predicated on the increased strategic flexibility 
this mode of engagement can provide and/or 
the reduced cost when compared to the cost for 
recruitment, direct employment, and associated 
employment on-costs. 

This year we are pleased to report an operating 
profit of $597,411. 

Investment Performance
The Board established an Investment Committee 
in 2016 to assist in executing an investment 
strategy to increase the return generated on 
the Society’s financial assets. The Investment 
Committee’s initial approach has been to help 
the Society diversify part of its exposure to 
its interest rate risk by gradually investing in 
Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs).

At the end of 2022, the value of ETFs exceeded 
$5.2 million (around 41% of the Society’s 
financial assets). As of 31 December, the mark-
to-market valuation of the ETFs saw the Society 

book an unrealised loss on the portfolio for 
the 12 months of $443,205. Since inception, 
the cumulative profit (excluding dividends) 
on the ETFs (after accounting for the FY22 
loss) is $198,636. During the year, the Society 
earned $435,767 in unrealised gains on these 
investments. Additionally, the Society has made 
$228,022 in dividend income from the ETFs.

The Board intends to maintain the ETF 
investments over the medium term while the 
Investment Committee continues to develop 
an ongoing strategy that responds to changing 
market conditions. 

Other Comprehensive Income
Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) includes 
revenues, expenses, gains and losses that have 
yet to be realised. In 2022, the surplus for the 
year was $597,411, and the OCI was $154,206, 
attributable to the unrealised loss on the ETF 
investments.

The total Surplus and Other Comprehensive 
Income for 2022 was $154,206. More information 
on the unrealised gains is contained in Note 7 in 
the Notes to the Financial Statements. 

Financial Position
Net assets increased by $154,206 to $13.314 
million during the year. 

Total liabilities increased by approximately 
$224,528 to $1.889 million. Overall, the Society’s 
balance sheet remains highly robust, with 
working capital of $6.374 million (equivalent to 
48% of total equity), and the Society has no debt.

Cash Flow
Net cash decreased throughout the year by 
$769,266 due to a positive operating cash flow of 
$409,975 and the further purchase of ETFs under 
the Society’s Investment Policy of $1,199,333 and 
capital expenditure of $6,908. 

The cash balance as of 31 December 2022 was 
$7.430 million. 
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Future Outlook
The 2023 Board-approved budget anticipates a 
deficit of $316,720. This budget anticipates all 
meetings and the ASM will take place face-to-
face, as well as increased investment in resources 
to build capacity to deliver on the Society’s 
mission.

I want to take this opportunity to acknowledge 
the work of the staff and consultants: Michael 
Nugara, Nick Danes, Katie Cook and Nigel 
Finch, for their support during the year.

A N N UA L  R E P O R T S :  T R E A S U R E R’ S  R E P O R T
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The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN:  000 069 376

Financial Report
for the year ended 31 December 2022
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The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN:  000 069 376

Directors Report

the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

The names of the directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are:

Date of appointment
  Peter Heathcote 13-Apr-15 Ashani Couchman
  Mark Frydenberg 12-Apr-13 Nestor Lalak
  Prem Rashid 13-Apr-19 Henry Woo
  Helen O'Connell 24-Apr-21 William Delaney
  Melvyn Kuan 24-Apr-21 Karen McKertich
  Raj Gogia 24-Apr-21 Robert Forsyth
  Leanne Shaw 24-Apr-21 John Miller

Tyrone Carlin

Date of appointment / retirement
27-Aug-22
30-Apr-22
30-Apr-22
27-Aug-22

16-Apr-2016 to 30-Apr-2022
21-Apr-2020 to 30-Apr-2022
24-Feb-2018 to 31-Jul-2022
20-Feb-2016 to 30-Apr-2022

(compared to surplus in 2021 of $940,066).

The Society is exempt from payment of income tax under section 23(e) of the Income Tax Assessment Act.

The principal activities of the Society during the year were the advancement of the science of urology through
the promotion and finance of research in urology and the bringing together of urologists of 
Australia and New Zealand to cultivate and maintain the highest principles of urological practice and ethics.

The Society is also responsible for the selection, training and assessment of urology registrars according
 to the Collaboration Agreement with the Royal Australasian College of Surgeons.

No significant change in the nature of these activities or the Society's state of affairs occurred during the year.

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected 
or may significantly affect the operations of the Society, the results of those operations, or the state of 
affairs of the Society in future financial years.

The Society expects to maintain the present status and level of operations and hence there are no likely 
developments for reporting.

The Society is a not for profit entity limited by guarantee and is therefore prohibited from declaring any 
dividends.

The Society's operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a law of the 
Commonwealth or of a state or territory.

During the year the Society has paid insurance premiums for Directors' Liability.

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Society or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the Society is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the 
Society for all or any part of those proceedings.

The Society was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

Auditor's Independence Declaration

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of 
the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on the following page.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

……………………………..
President
9 February 2023

 Your directors present their report on The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand (the Society) for  

 The surplus and other comprehensive income of the Society for the financial year was $154,206 
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Directors' Declaration

The directors of the company declare that:

1. The financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, and;

(a) comply with Accounting Standards - Simplified Disclosure applicable to the Society; and

(b) give a true and fair view of the Society's financial position as at 31 December 2022
and of its performance for the year ended on that date: in accordance with the

2. In the directors' opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Society will
be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

……………………………..
President
9 February 2023
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The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN:  000 069 376

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021
$ $

Revenue and other income 2 5,998,926             2,726,126             

Total revenue 5,998,926             2,726,126             

Less:
Audit and accounting fees 16 (19,900) (24,358) 
Consultants (390,533) (327,757) 
Depreciation and amortisation 8a (57,633) (68,049) 
Employment (1,410,685)            (1,260,540)            
Financial (107,774) (35,246) 
Grants and awards (26,190) (8,630) 
Legal fees (42,088) (41,211) 
Meetings and events (1,570,475)            (196,781) 
Member benefits (123,552) (109,448) 
Office and IT (164,763) (119,807) 
Premises (24,938) (27,380) 
Travel and accommodation (107,249) (29,235) 
Venue and catering costs (1,355,737)            (298,384) 

Total expenses (5,401,515)            (2,546,827)            

Surplus for the year 3 597,411 179,299

Other comprehensive income 
Gains (loss) on financial assets at fair value (443,205) 435,767
Revaluation of buildings - 325,000
Surplus and other comprehensive income for the year 154,206 940,066

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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ACN:  000 069 376

Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021
$ $

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash assets 4 7,430,500              8,226,766 
Receivables 5 251,963 46,731 
Other 6 377,574 333,632 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 8,060,037              8,607,129 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments 7 5,250,697              4,274,146 
Land and buildings 8 1,584,388              1,589,302 
Plant and equipment 8 308,738 354,549 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 7,143,823              6,217,997 

TOTAL ASSETS 15,203,860            14,825,126 

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables 9 403,349 213,393 
Provisions 10 276,462 229,590 
Other 11 1,005,800              1,039,626 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,685,611              1,482,608 

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions 10 203,903 182,378 
TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 203,903 182,378 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,889,514              1,664,986 

NET ASSETS 13,314,346            13,160,140 

EQUITY
Building revaluation reserve 797,759 797,759 
ETF revaluation reserve 198,636 641,842 
Retained surpluses 12,317,951            11,720,540 
TOTAL EQUITY 13,314,346            13,160,140 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Note  Retained 
surpluses 

 Building revaluation 
reserve 

ETF revaluation 
reserve Total

Balance as at 31 December 2020 11,541,241 472,758 206,075 12,220,074          

Surplus balance as attributable to the entity 179,299 - 179,299 
Other comprehensive income for period 325,000 435,767 760,767 

Balance as at 31 December 2021 11,720,540 797,758 641,842 13,160,140          

Surplus balance as attributable to the entity 597,411 - 597,411 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for period - - (443,205)             (443,205)              

Balance as at 31 December 2022 12,317,951 797,759 198,636 13,314,346          

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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ACN:  000 069 376

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Proceeds from operations 1,501,790 2,969,651              
Proceeds from events 2,800,923 51,130 
Proceeds from section activities 1,096,774 305,626 
Investment received 43,285 168,580 
Grants received 130,500 168,250 
Payments to suppliers (4,716,562)             (2,651,024)             
Payments for sections (446,735) (218,211) 

Net cash provided from operating activities 17(b) 409,975 794,002 

Cash flows from investing activities

Investment purchases (1,199,333)             (1,123,450)             
Property plant and equipment-purchases (6,908) (54,728) 

Net cash provided from investing activities (1,206,241)             (1,178,178)             

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from redemption of investments - - 

Net cash provided from financing activities - - 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held (796,266) (384,176) 

Cash held at the beginning of the financial year 8,226,766 8,610,942              

Cash held at the end of the financial year 17(a) 7,430,500 8,226,766              

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Note 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand  (the Society) is limited by guarantee, 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

Basis of preparation
The Society applies Australian Accounting Standards - Simplified Disclosure Requirements as set out 
in AASB 1053 - Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards.

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards - Simplified Disclosure Requirements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). The Society is a not-for-profit entity for financial 
reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result 
in financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and 
conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are 
presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accrual 
basis and are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value 
of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the 
financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar and presented in Australian dollars 
($AUD).

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 6 February 2023 by the directors of the Society.

Accounting policies

a) Income tax
The Society is exempt from paying income tax. No provision is made for income tax expense nor are
there any deferred tax assets or deferred tax to be disclosed or accounted for.

b) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

• where the GST incurred on purchases of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part
of the expense item as applicable.

• receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a net basis and GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority are classified as operating cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST.

c) Foreign currency

All foreign currency transactions are shown in Australian dollars.

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in Australian dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the 
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are 
retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. 
Exchange differences are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which 
they occur.
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The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022

d) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Society and which can be reliably measured.
Member Fees and Subscriptions
The subscription year runs from 1 January to 31 December. Subscriptions are payable annually and 
are recognised in the applicable membership year.
Interest
Recognised as interest accrues, using the effective interest method which for floating rate financial 
assets is the rate inherent in the instrument.
Income from investments
Revenue recognised when the income is earned. Unrealised increments or decrements in the 
Society's portfolio of investment assets (Note 7) are included in the Society's statement of 
comprehensive income each year.
Grants

Revenue is recognised when control of the contribution or right to receive the contribution is received.

e) Trade and other receivables

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less any allowance for uncollectible 
amounts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer 
probable. Receivables are written off as bad debts when they become irrecoverable.

f) Property, plant and equipment

All classes of assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment.
Depreciation is calculated on either a straight-line or diminishing values basis over the estimated 
useful life of the assets (excluding freehold land) as follows:
Buildings - 50 years
Strata title - 50 years
Property, plant and equipment - 3 to 13 years
Information technology assets - 3 years
Library books - 5 years

Impairment
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If such an indication 
exists and where carrying values exceed the recoverable amount, the asset is written down to the 
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use. Any excess of the asset's carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount. Any impairment loss of a revalued 
assets is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

Land and buildings
Land and buildings are based on Directors valuation or the independent valuations  obtained every 
three years. They reflect independent assessments of the open market value of land and buildings 
based on existing use. Refer to Note 8 for details of the independent valuation current for the term of 
these financial statements.

g) Financial assets

Recognition
Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade date, which includes transaction costs, 
when the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial recognition these 
instruments are measured as set out below.

Equity instruments

At initial recognition, as long as the equity instrument is not held for training or not a contingent 
consideration recognised by the acquirer in a business combination to which a AASB 3 – Business 
Combinations applies, the entity made an irrevocable election to measure any subsequent changes in 
fair value of the equity instruments in other comprehensive income, while the dividend revenue 
received on underlying equity instruments will still be recognised profit or loss.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022

g) Financial assets (cont)

Financial assets

A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income:
- the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cashflows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates; and,
- the business model for managing the financial asset comprises both contractual cashflows collection
and the selling of the financial asset.

Fair value
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques 
are applied to determine the fair value of all unlisted securities, including recent arms' length 
transactions, reference to similar instruments and pricing.

Derecognition
Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from 
the statement of financial position.

Derecognition of Financial Assets
A financial asset is derecognised when the holders contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or the 
asset is transferred in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially 
transferred.

On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as fair value through other comprehensive income, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is 
reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity which the Society elected to classify under fair value 
through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the 
investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained 
earnings.

h) Employee benefits

Employee benefits expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid. Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the 
present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits only where this 
amount is materially different from the current measured value.

Short term employee benefits
The provision for annual leave and time in lieu represents the amount which the Society has a present 
obligation to pay resulting from employees’ services provided up to balance date. The provision has 
been calculated at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled and includes 
superannuation.
Long term employee benefits

The liability for employee benefits for long service leave represents estimated future cash outflows to 
be made by the employer resulting from employees’ services provided up to the balance date.
In determining the liability for employee benefits, account has been taken of future increases in wage 
and salary rates, and the Society's experience with staff departures.

i) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Society has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be 
reliably measured.

j) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks.

k) Comparative figures

Where necessary comparatives have been reclassified to ensure consistent presentation with the 
current year.
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l) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based on 
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable 
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both 
externally and within the Society.

m) New accounting standards for application in future periods

The AASB has issued new, revised and amended Standards and Interpretations that have mandatory 
application dates for future reporting periods. The Society does not expect them to have any material 
effect on the Society's financial statements and will not be adopting them before the mandatory 
application dates.

n) New Accounting Standards adopted in financial year

During the current year there were no new or revised Australian Accounting Standards issued which 
had applicability for the Society.

o) Reserves

1) ETF Revaluation Reserve
The Society has created an EFT reserve to separately disclose the unrealised gains arising from the 
Exchange Traded Funds investments (refer Note 7).

The movement will be disclosed in other comprehensive income section of the statement of profit and 
loss and other comprehensive income and transferred to the EFT revaluation reserve each year.

The decrement amounted to $-443,205 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: $435,767).

2) Building Revaluation Reserve
The Society has created an Building reserve to separately disclose the unrealised gains arising from 
the Edgecliff Building (refer Note 8).

The movement will be disclosed in other comprehensive income section of the statement of profit and 
loss and other comprehensive income and transferred to the Building revaluation reserve each year.
The increment amounted to $0 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: $325,000).
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2022 2021
$ $

Note 2 - REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

Revenue

Operating activities 1,707,022             2,032,540             
Event revenues 2,800,923             51,130 
Section revenues 1,096,774             305,626 
Total revenue from operating activities 5,604,718             2,389,295             

Other income

Dividends received 228,002 149,576 
Interest received 35,706 19,004 
Non-government grants 130,500 - 
Government support - Covid Wage Subsidies - 153,250 
Government support - Covid Cash-flow Boosts/Grants - 15,000 
Total other income 394,208 336,830 

Total revenue and other income 5,998,926             2,726,126             

Note 3 - SURPLUS AND ACCUMULATED FUNDS

Significant items explaining the financial performance:

The 2022 ASM event generated a surplus of $486,930. No ASM event was held during the year to 31st December 2021.
During 2022, the Society co-hosted the UAA 2022 conference. The event generated a surplus of $62,874 for the Society.

Note 4 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash on hand and at bank 1,805,172             2,543,072             
Term deposits and notice of withdrawal accounts 5,625,328             5,683,694             

7,430,500             8,226,766             

The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits was 0.46% (2021 - 0.23%)

Note 5 - RECEIVABLES

Accounts receivable 219,635 21,982 
Investment income receivable 32,329 24,750 

251,963 46,731 

Accounts receivable is the net amount allowing for a provision for doubtful debts of $2,350 (2021: NIL)

Note 6 - OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments 377,574                333,632 
377,574 333,632 

Note 7 - INVESTMENTS - at market value

Exchange traded funds 5,250,697             4,274,146             
5,250,697             4,274,146             

The culmulative unrealised gains/(loss) of $198,636 from the ETF revaluation is included in ETF revaluation reserve
and forms part of the total equity of the Society.
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Notes to the financial statements
2022 2021

Note 8 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT $ $

Plant and equipment - at cost 983,015 976,107 
Accumulated depreciation (674,277) (621,558) 
Carrying value 308,738 354,549 

Building - carrying value - independent valuation 1,725,000             1,725,000             
Accumulated depreciation (140,612) (135,698) 
Carrying value 1,584,388             1,589,302             

An independent valuation of $1,725,000 for the building and associated renovations was provided on 21 April 2021,
by AVG Valuers. The building is the Society's registered office at Suite 512/180 Ocean Street Edgecliff NSW 2027.

Note 8a - MOVEMENT IN CARRYING AMOUNTS

Plant and equipment 
Balance at beginning of the year 354,549 362,957 
Additions 6,908 54,728 
Depreciation (52,719) (63,135) 
Carrying amount at end of the year 308,738 354,549 

Building
Balance at beginning of the year 1,589,302             1,269,215             
Revaluations - 325,000 
Depreciation (4,914) (4,914) 
Carrying amount at end of the year 1,584,388             1,589,302             

Note 9 - PAYABLES

Sundry Creditors and Accruals 403,349 213,393 
403,349 213,393 

Note 10 - PROVISIONS

Current
Short-term employee benefits 276,462 229,590 

276,462 229,590 
Non Current
Long-term employee benefits 203,903 182,378 

203,903 182,378 

Note 11 - OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Unearned Income 1,005,800             1,039,626             
1,005,800             1,039,626             

Note 12 - COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

The Society has no capital commitments as at 31 December 2022.

Note 13 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

No contingent liabilities exist as at the date of this report.
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Note 14 - EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE

No event has occurred after the reporting date that would materially affect the results or state of affairs of the Society at
31 December 2022

Note 15 - RELATED PARTIES

Names of directors who held office at any time during the year:

Date of appointment Date of appointment / retirement
  Peter Heathcote 13-Apr-15 Ashani Couchman 27-Aug-22

  Mark Frydenberg 12-Apr-13 Nestor Lalak 30-Apr-22

  Prem Rashid 13-Apr-19 Henry Woo
  Helen O'Connell 24-Apr-21 William Delaney
  Melvyn Kuan 24-Apr-21 Karen McKertich
  Raj Gogia 24-Apr-21 Robert Forsyth
  Leanne Shaw 24-Apr-21 John Miller

Tyrone Carlin

30-Apr-22

27-Aug-22

16-Apr-2016 to 30-Apr-2022

21-Apr-2020 to 30-Apr-2022 
24-Feb-2018 to 31-Jul-2022 
20-Feb-2016 to 30-Apr-2022

Remuneration of Directors
Directors provide their services on a voluntary basis. The President does not receive an annual allowance 
but is reimbursed reasonable travel and other costs associated with his role and duties as President. 

The Board Chair does not receive an annual allowance but is reimbursed reasonable travel and other costs associated
with his role and duties as Board Chair. 

Other Directors are reimbursed for out of pocket expenses associated with their role and duties as a Director.

Note 15(a) - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

There were no related party relationships, transactions or outstanding balances for the year ended 31 December 2022.

2022 2021
Note 16 - REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS $ $

Auditing the financial statements 19,900 18,500 
Non-audit professional services - 5,858 

19,900 24,358 
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2022 2021

Note 17 - CASH FLOW INFORMATION $ $
(a) Reconciliation of Cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as
shown in the Statements of Cash Flows
is reconciled to the related items in the
statement of financial position as follows:

Cash in hand and at Bank 7,430,500             8,226,766             
7,430,500             8,226,766             

(b) Reconciliation of Cash Flow and
Surplus for the period

Surplus for the period 154,206 940,066 
Non cash flows in operating profit
  Depreciation 57,633 68,049 
  Portfolio valued at market 443,205 (435,767) 
  Buildings revaluation - (325,000) 
  Dividend reinvestment plan (non cash dividends) (220,423) - 
Changes in assets and liabilities
  Decrease / (increase) in receivables (205,232) (17,675) 
  Decrease / (increase) in other assets (43,942) (258,561) 
  (Decrease) / increase in accounts payable 189,955 (88,250) 
  (Decrease) / increase in provisions and other liabilities 34,573 911,139 
Net cash flows from operating activities 409,975 794,002 

Note 18 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

In common with all other businesses, the Society is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. 
This note describes the Society's objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and the methods used to 
measure them. Further quantitative information in respect of those risks is presented throughout these financial 
statements. There have been no substantive changes in the Society's exposure to financial instrument risks, its 
objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from previous periods 
unless otherwise stated in this note. 

The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Society's risk management objectives and policies 
and, whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for designing and operating 
processes that ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Society's finance function.

The Society's risk management policies and objectives are therefore designed to minimise the potential impacts of 
these risks on the Society where such impacts may be material. The Board receives quarterly financial reports through 
which it reviews the effectiveness of the processes put in place and the appropriateness of the objectives and policies
it sets. The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without 
unduly affecting the Society's operations. 

Financial investments

The Society's financial investments consist of deposits with banks, short term deposits, ETF investments accounts receivable
and payable. The directors overall risk strategy seeks to assist the Society meet its stated objectives whilst minimising potential 
adverse effects on financial performance. The Society's main risks are interest rate and credit risk. 
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Note 18 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont)

The Society's financial assets and liabilities and their  respective interest rates are as follows:

Financial assets 2022 2022 2021 2021
$ $ $ $

Interest Non Interest Interest Non Interest
Rate Bearing Bearing Bearing Bearing

Business cheque accounts - 1,508,568             
Business cash reserve 1.05% 1,128,575             676,596 1,034,503             
CMA investment option - - - - 
Notice of withdrawal-31 day 0.35% - - 2,102 - 
Term notice-90 day 3.25% 5,625,328             - 5,681,592 - 

ETF investments 5,250,697             - 4,274,146 - 
Receivables - 251,963 - 46,731 

12,004,600           10,992,343           10,992,343           1,555,300             

Financial liabilities

Business credit cards 14.25% 7,755 - 2,633 - 
Payables - 258,307 - 125,308 

7,755 258,307 2,633 125,308 

Sensitivity analysis

2022 2021
INTEREST RATE SENSITIVITY CALCULATED AT +/- 1.0% $ $

Change to profit +/-   75,802 +/-   84,189
Change to equity +/-   75,802 +/-   84,189

Credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk with respect to recognised financial assets at balance date, excluding the value
of any collateral or other security, is the carrying amount of those assets, net of any provisions for doubtful debts,
as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements.

Net fair values

The financial assets and liabilities that are readily traded in a quoted market are valued at the quoted market bid price at 
balance date. For other financial assets and liabilities that are not readily traded their fair values are materially  in line with 
carrying values.

The following table illustrate sensitivities to the Society's exposure to changes in interest rates. The table indicates the impact on how profit 
and equity values reported at balance date would have been affected by a change in the relevant risk variable that management considers to 
be reasonably possible. The sensitivities assume that the movement in a particular variable are independent of other variables.
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Note 19 - KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Society, directly or 
indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Society, are considered Key Management Personnel

The aggregate compensation made to members of Key Management Personnel of the Society is set out below:

2022 2021
$ $

866,674 828,048 
17,917 12,656 

884,591 840,703 

Directors meetings
Number of 

meetings eligible to 
attend

Number attended

6 3
2 2
2 2
6 5
15 14
15 12
15 15
15 15
9 8
6 4
12 10
15 12
15 14
14 13

Short-term employee benefits
Other long-term benefits

Note 20 - MEETINGS OF OFFICERS

Director's name

Tyrone Carlin
Ashani Couchman
William Delaney
Rob Forsyth
Mark Frydenberg
Raj Gogia
Peter Heathcote
Melvyn Kuan
Nestor Lalak
Karen McKertich
John Miller
Helen O'Connell
Prem Rashid
Leanne Shaw
Henry Woo 9 8

Note 21 - SOCIETY DETAILS

The registered office and principal place of business of the Society is:

Suite 512, Eastpoint
180 Ocean Street
Edgecliff NSW 2027

Note 22 - MEMBERS' GUARANTEE

The Society is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001  and is a company limited by guarantee. If the Society is wound up, the 
constitution states that each member (other than an Honorary member) is required to contribute a maximum of $500 towards meeting any 
outstanding obligations of the Society. At 31 December 2022, the number of members (other than Honorary members) was 749 (December 
2021: 748).
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Chair, Board of Urology 
Nestor Lalak 

It is with great pleasure that I present the Board 
of Urology report to the USANZ membership.

In February 2022, I was honoured to be appointed 
to the role of Board Chair, which had been under 
the expert stewardship of Rob Forsyth. I knew the 
role would be challenging and was somewhat 
anxious at the start of my tenure, as a few ongoing 
matters needed to be resolved. However, I was 
confident these would be managed appropriately 
with the great team I had supporting me.

I have been fortunate to benefit from the work 
of my predecessors in the restructure and 
refinement of the Board’s functioning, and I 
would like to thank Rob Forsyth, Stuart Phillip, 
Melvyn Kuan, Richard Grills, as well as all previous 
Board Chairs who have contributed in their 
specific ways to this important role.

It has been a busy year for the Board of Urology, 
and I would like to thank everyone for their 
commitment and dedication in their individual 
roles. As a team, we have worked well with a 
clear vision achieving diplomatic decisions as 
required. It is encouraging that we listen to all 
points of view - positive, negative, for or against 
and respectfully take these views into discussions, 
reaching a unified decision.

I express my sincere gratitude to Robert Forsyth 
for his leadership, exceptional commitment, 
understanding, patience and tireless contribution 
as Board Chair, particularly during 2020 and 2021, 
which were extremely challenging years.

I also acknowledge Rob’s active involvement 
in urological training and education for over 
a decade, particularly his role as Chair of the 
Education Sub-Committee since its inception 
in 2016. Under Rob’s leadership, this committee 
redeveloped the SET Urology Curriculum, which 
will enhance urological practice into the future. 
Rob has been a co-opted member over the past 
year, and I would like to thank him for his astute 
and invaluable contributions.

I would also like to thank Lydia Johns Putra, 
Deputy Chair, for her assistance and well-
balanced views throughout the year.

The following USANZ members were appointed 
to the Board in 2022:

• Kathryn McLeod, Chair, VIC (incl TAS) 
Regional Training Committee

• Jacob Gleeson, Chair, QLD Regional Training 
Committee

• Michael Holmes, Chair, Aotearoa New 
Zealand Regional Training Committee

• Dane Cole-Clark, Trainee Representative

• Lydia Johns Putra, Deputy Chair

• Robert Forsyth, Co-opted Member

• Anthony Hutton, Chair, VIC/ACT Regional 
Training Committee

• Arman Kahokehr, Chair, SA Regional Training 
Committee

As Dane’s term on the Board concluded at the end 
of 2022, I want to acknowledge his dedication, 
contribution, and advocacy. We wish him well in 
his final year of training and his future endeavours.

The chairs of the Regional Training Committees 
have been instrumental in communicating with 
Training Supervisors and Trainers on a wide 
variety of matters from the Board of Urology and 
have also presented significant issues of concern 
to the Board for consideration. I congratulate 
them for their commitment and dedication.

I acknowledge Richard Grills for his work and 
enthusiasm in overseeing the Urology SIMG 
process. Richard’s ongoing dedication, as well 
as his clear and insightful views, have been most 
appreciated.

Many thanks to our President Prem Rashid for his 
support and ‘words of wisdom’ when discussing 
various issues. Prem’s mature and informed 
advice has always been practical, sensible, 
and well-received. Thank you to the Board of 
Directors who have approached me on various 
matters and also provided appropriate feedback 
and advice.
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I would also like to express my appreciation to 
Michael Nugara, USANZ CEO, for his ongoing 
support to USANZ, the Board of Urology and the 
Training Program. Michael’s corporate knowledge 
has been crucial in guiding us in the right direction.

Training Supervisors
I thank all Training Supervisors for their dedication 
and commitment to the SET Program in Urology. 
With the support of your colleagues, the teaching 
has been of an extremely high standard, valued 
by all trainees. Training has its challenges but can 
be stimulating and rewarding for all involved. I am 
pleased and thankful to all Training Supervisors 
for ensuring that training posts maintain the high 
standard required for ongoing accreditation and 
that concerns are addressed as required. 

Trainees
Despite the challenges faced over the last 
couple of years, our trainees have adjusted and 
progressed positively in their training. Their 
resilience has enabled them to advance and 
develop clinically and psychologically. With 
ongoing support from their supervisors, trainers, 
family and friends, we hope that our trainees will 
continue their urological journey to the best of 
their ability and at the rate equivalent to their 
level of progress. Recent and current events 
have shown us how important it is to monitor our 
health and well-being, ask for assistance when 
required, and assist our colleagues. 

It has been encouraging and beneficial to all 
that we have been able to return to ‘face-to-
face’ meetings – the social interaction with our 
colleagues and peers has been important to 
us all, without ignoring recommendations from 
health authorities.

At the end of 2022, 105 trainees were 
participating in the SET Program in Urology. The 
distribution was as follows:

SET Level Male Female Total % Female

SET1 14 5 19 26.3%

SET2 15 8 23 34.8%

SET3 17 2 19 10.5%

SET4 12 6 18 33.3%

SET5 15 5 20 25%

Interrupted 3 3 6 50%

Total Trainees 76 29 105 27.6%

There continues to be an increasing interest in 
flexible training, with several trainees availing 
themselves of this. We continue to support 
trainees who wish to take up this option and 
strive to accommodate requests.

We want to congratulate the following who 
completed all components of the training 
program during 2022 and wish them well in their 
future urological career:

Imran Ali, Mohit Bajaj, Ross Calopedos, James 
Chen, Daniel Chia, Deborah Friberg, Cindy 
Garcia, Andre Joshi, Jonathan Kam, Munad Khan, 
Ned Kinnear, Todd Manning, Alice Mistry, Lana 
Pepdjonovic, James Sewell, Andrew Shepherd, 
Amila Siriwardana, Gary Wang, Luke Wang, David 
Wetherell, Marianna Zukiwskyj

Training Post Accreditation
During 2022, the Board of Urology continued to 
closely monitor the maintenance of standards 
within SET Urology Training Posts. In accordance 
with the Board’s fair, objective and consistent 
process, several posts were inspected or 
reviewed to ensure that the core components of 
education, training and supervision were in place. 
Where deficiencies were identified, the Board 
provided clear and comprehensive guidance on 
the aspects of the post to assist it in providing an 
effective environment for training. 

We are fortunate to have an experienced pool 
of urologists who have taken the time and effort 
to inspect various training posts throughout 
the year, ensuring the high standard of Training 
Post accreditation remains. When concerns 
are highlighted, it is imperative that we reach a 



cordial outcome so that standards are maintained, 
and safe educational training environments 
are provided for all trainees. The commitment 
and unbiased views of Training Post inspectors 
ensures the transparent nature of this process.

Examinations
I would first like to acknowledge the significant 
contribution of the members of the Urology 
Court of Examiners:

John Stanley (Senior Examiner), Gregory Malone 
(Deputy Senior Examiner), Paul Anderson, 
Stephen Bourne, Lewis Chan, Sue Chapman, 
Peter Chin, Jeremy Goad, Alistair Hepburn, Kym 
Horsell, Alexander Jay, Howard Lau, Giovanni 
Losco, Madhusudan Koya, David Malouf, John 
Miller, Mariolyn Raj, Chris Vernon, Audrey Wang, 
Roger Watson, Nathalie Webb, Andrew Williams, 
Hin-Wai Yap and Jessica Yin.

I want to commend John Stanley and all examiners 
for their invaluable contributions and the extensive 
time they dedicate to this role. Whilst there have 
been numerous challenges over the last couple 
of years, it is reassuring to know that adjustments 
can be made to maintain the high standard of the 
examination in a safe environment. 

I would also like to thank all trainers who 
supported our Fellowship Exam candidates 
during preparation. Your support, guidance and 
experience have been influential in their success.

The following trainees passed the Fellowship 
Examinations in 2022, and we congratulate them 
on their success:

Abigail Attwell-Heap, Haider Bangash, Marnique 
Basto, Michael Bock, Emma Clarebrough, Dane 
Cole-Clark, Thomas Cundy, Samuel Davies, 
Ankur Dhar, Alice Grant, Todd Manning, Cynthia 
O’Sullivan, Lana Pepdjonovic, Alison Rutledge, 
Joshua Silverman, Amila Siriwardana, Muazzam 
Tahir, Gary Wang, Lance Yuan and Wenjie Zhong.

Twenty trainees passed the Surgical Sciences 
Examination in Urology in 2022. This exam was 
held in June and October. The Frank Gardiner 
Award was presented to the trainees attaining 

the highest score at each sitting. The recipients 
were Amer Amin (NSW) in the June exam and 
Cameron Parkin (NSW) in October.

Selection
The Selection Sub-Committee comprises Lydia 
Johns Putra (Chair), Kara McDermott, Rohan 
Hall, Jacob Gleeson, Simon Van Rij and Ahmed 
Goolam. Melvyn Kuan, Joseph Ischia, Raymond 
Tong and Eva Fong concluded their terms 
in 2022 and their contributions are gratefully 
acknowledged.

As part of the initial implementation of the Rural 
Health Equity Strategic Action Plan, points were 
awarded for rural origin and rural medical school 
attendance. Applicants were also given advance 
notice that post-graduate rural rotations would 
be scored in subsequent years.

The selection process was undertaken with 46 
doctors applying and 34 shortlisted for interview. 
We extend our gratitude to the many urologists 
from Aotearoa New Zealand and Australia who 
volunteered their time to participate in this 
invaluable activity. 

The following 17 new trainees were selected and 
will commence clinical training in 2023:

Vidyasagar Chinni, Hannah Flynn, William 
Gondoputro, Yilu (Rose) He, Athul John, Joshua 
Kealey, Kathleen Lockhart, Joshua Makary, 
George McClintock, Stephen McGeorge, Andrew 
Morton, Jonathan O’Brien, Liang Qu, Christian 
Robinson, Christopher Soliman, Arsalan Tariq and  
Thomas Whish-Wilson.

The Board also appointed Alex Ngoo, who has 
deferred commencement of clinical training in 2023.

Program Development
I want to acknowledge the hard work and 
dedication of the Education Sub-Committee, led 
by Kathryn McLeod. This committee comprises 
Kathryn McLeod (Chair), Robert Forsyth, Nathalie 
Webb, Matthew Stanowski, Matthew Roberts, 
Briony Norris and Kevin Bax. Tim Skyring, Jenny 
Kong, Tim Smith and Andy Malcolm concluded 
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their terms on the Education Sub-Committee 
during the year, and we thank each of them for 
their commitment and contribution, particularly 
in the development of the updated curriculum.

I would also like to acknowledge the work of the 
Research Working Party (Kathryn McLeod, Renu 
Eapen, Patrick Teloken, Matthew Roberts, Shiva 
Hair, Arman Kahokehr and Amanda Chung), 
which has reviewed and formulated updated 
research requirements. We hope these will 
reduce any unnecessary burden on trainees and 
improve the quality of research being produced. 

Jodie Atkin’s involvement has also been vital 
in the development of all aspects of the new 
educational framework, and we sincerely thank 
her for her expertise, guidance and support.

The Education Sub-Committee made 
considerable progress in developing the new 
training program, which will transition towards 
a more competency-based framework from 
2024. The new program will provide greater 
clarity regarding expectations and include more 
targeted workplace-based assessments to assist 
in appraising competence. The revised program 
will comprise three stages of training: Basic, 
Intermediate, and Advanced.  

One key change is that trainees will have to 
complete 10 Entrustable Professional Activities 
(EPAs). These are discrete tasks or responsibilities 
that supervisors entrust a trainee to perform 
unsupervised once they have attained 
competence. The EPAs identified cover the 
breadth of the curriculum.

The distinct benefit of the new program is that it 
will provide supervisors and trainers with a more 
explicit framework to assess trainees at each 
stage and allow easier identification of areas of 
deficiency.

A streamlined and shortened In-Training 
Assessment Form will also be introduced in 
2023, which includes more meaningful items for 
providing feedback. 

All stakeholders have responded favourably 
to the new training program, which is very 
rewarding to see. 

Educational Meetings
The Induction Course for incoming trainees was 
held in February in a hybrid format. The trainees 
were given a general overview of the training 
program and participated in an interactive 
workshop on managing difficult conversations.

Trainee Week, an integral component of the 
SET Program in Urology, was held as a single-
site face-to-face meeting in Melbourne. It was a 
wonderful opportunity for the trainees to forge 
close relationships with their colleagues. This 
year we also hosted trainees from the European 
Association of Urology (EAU), the Urological 
Association of Asia (UAA), the Canadian 
Urological Association (CUA) and the British 
Association of Urological Surgeons (BAUS) as 
part of a reciprocal arrangement with these 
international associations. 

We extend our sincere gratitude to the Convenor, 
Kathryn McLeod, who organised an educational, 
stimulating meeting targeting technical and non-
technical skills. I thank the Victorian urologists, 
and other local medical experts, for their input 
and time in contributing. We now look forward to 
Adelaide in 2023.

Final Words
Despite the challenges of the last 12 months, 
with the support of Board of Urology members, 
Training Supervisors, Trainers and Trainees, we 
have concluded on a positive note. We have a 
strong and robust training program that is one 
of the best in the world. Our success is due to 
the dedicated work of all involved, including 
the USANZ personnel, who ensure the smooth 
management and administration of all processes.

I thank Kirsten Isaacs, who leaves at the end 
of January, heading back home to Germany. 
Kirsten’s support, guidance and willingness to 
assist in organising many aspects of training has 
been highly valued. We all wish her the best for 
her future endeavours and acknowledge that she 
will always be part of the USANZ family.

Deborah Klein has been an enormous support 
to me, not only in the past year but also in 
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my previous roles over the years. Deborah’s 
commitment and dedicated assistance to our 
trainees and her knowledge of all aspects of 
training are invaluable. She is always available to 
discuss issues with me or help a trainee, trainer 
or supervisor with any concerns. I thank Deborah 
for her assistance to me and to all those involved 
with the training program.

I would also like to acknowledge the support of 
two of my colleagues – Paul Gassner and Prem 
Rathore. They have assisted and supported me 
with my clinical commitments, especially during 
this past year.

I thank my family, especially my wife Alison, who 
has allowed me to dedicate the time and passion 
required in my role.

Finally, I look forward to the year ahead. We 
are all involved in training irrespective of 
our positions and acknowledge that it is our 
responsibility to ensure the highest level of 
training is provided. With ongoing influence and 
dedication from all those involved in the training 
program, I will make every effort to maintain and 
improve the quality of the training program over 
the next year.

Board of Urology 
Nestor Lalak: Chair

Lydia Johns Putra: Deputy Chair

Anthony Hutton: Chair,  
NSW/ACT Regional Training Committee

Arman Kahokehr: Chair,  
SA/NT Regional Training Committee

Michael Holmes: Chair, Aotearoa  
New Zealand Regional Training Committee

Kathryn McLeod: Chair,  
VIC (incl TAS) Regional Training Committee

Jacob Gleeson: Chair,  
QLD Regional Training Committee

Robert Goodwin: Chair,  
WA Regional Training Committee 

John Stanley: Senior Examiner

Prem Rashid: President, USANZ

Mark Frydenberg: Urology Representative,  
RACS Council

Richard Grills: Urology Representative,  
SIMG Assessment and Management

Dane Cole-Clark: Trainee Representative

Robert Forsyth: Co-opted Member

Michael Nugara: CEO, USANZ

Sub-Committee Chairs
Kathryn McLeod: Education

Lydia Johns Putra: Selection

Nestor Lalak: Training Post Accreditation

Richard Grills: SIMG

Deputy Chairs, Regional Training Committees
Scott Leslie (NSW)

Heath Liddell (VIC)

Adrian Clubb (QLD)

Kara McDermott (WA)

Urology Representatives,  
Examinations Committees
Paul Gilmore: Physiology and Chair,  
SSE (Urol) Committee

Bradley Newell: Anatomy

Johan Gani: Clinical Examinations

Niall Corcoran: Pathology

Support Personnel
Deborah Klein: Education and Training Manager

Kirsten Isaacs: Training Administrator
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Continuing Professional  
Development Report 
Peter Heathcote
USANZ aims to provide a CPD program that is 
easily accessible with quality learning exercises 
and strives to offer strong encouragement to 
members to ensure that their performance 
follows best practice.

In 2022, for the most part, we returned to the 
pre-COVID schedule, although the ASM was 
postponed to June to ensure the highest 
possible number of members could attend in 
person. In addition, the Aotearoa New Zealand 
section meeting was held in February online 
instead of in person. 

USANZ also hosted the 19th Urological 
Association of Asia Congress 2022 from 5 to 8 
October at the International Convention Centre 
Sydney.

In addition to USANZ’s education offerings, 
BAUS, EAU, and AUA returned to in-person 
meeting formats. 

One of the strategies that continued in 2022 was 
the provision of free access to BJUI Knowledge 
(BJUIK) to USANZ Trainees, Full Members and 
Associate Urological Members. BJUIK is an 
online CPD/CME initiative developed by BJUI. In 

addition to providing high-quality and interactive 
e-learning that supports continuous professional 
excellence in Urology, members can record all 
their professional development activities on the 
platform anywhere and at any time using any 
device. 

We also encourage members to participate in 
the PCOR-ANZ initiative, which is approved as an 
audit activity under the RACS CPD program.

We urge members to support the Society’s 
endeavours in keeping abreast of the latest 
developments and the world’s benchmarks and 
outcomes by attending Section Meetings, our 
ASM and all the great satellite meetings that 
occur during the year. One of these meetings in 
2023 is the joint conference of the 31st National 
Conference on Incontinence (NCOI) and the 4th 
Functional Urology Symposium (FUS). This event, 
co-hosted by CFA and USANZ, will be held from 
14-17 June at the Adelaide Convention Centre. 
As we all know, attending these meetings fulfils 
many of the criteria we need for recertification by 
the College.

Members are encouraged to support the USANZ 
BJUI journal supplement; please continue to 
submit papers for publication. Most urological 
journals are available online, either directly or 
through the College.
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Annual Scientific Meetings

Gold Coast 2022 
Anita Clarke, Convenor 

The 74th Annual Scientific Meeting of the 
Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand 
and the 26th ANZUNS Annual Meeting finally 
took place at the Gold Coast Convention and 
Exhibition Centre after a three-year hiatus 
due to COVID. The meeting took place from 
June 25-28, 2022, with an excellent turnout of 
urologists, urology nurses and allied health 
professionals from Australia and New Zealand. 
Professor Manish Patel (Scientific Convenor) 
worked tirelessly to coordinate an impressive list 
of international guests into the program. Mel 
Caruso (Convenor) and Deidre Kiernan (Scientific 
Program Chair) organised the ANZUNS meeting, 
and again the international guest and program 
were exceptional. 

We welcomed the international guests on 21 
June at a poolside dinner, and they were visibly 
impressed at the beauty and the warm winter 
weather that the Gold Coast offered. The 
meeting commenced with a series of Saturday 
workshops which were very well attended. Some 
new themes, including focal therapy for prostate 
cancer, and intra-renal pressure assessment 
in flexible ureteroscopy and combined renal 
surgery, proved very popular. 

The Opening Ceremony began with a Welcome 
to Country by Uncle John of the Yugambeh 
Language Group, followed by the Harry Harris 
Oration presented by legendary Queenslander, 
Lisa Curry AO. This set the scene for a wonderful 
few days of learning and reconnecting socially 
with peers.

Following the official welcome, female USANZ 
members headed to the Sky Point tower for 
the inaugural SWANZU meeting and dinner 
(sponsored by AVANT). Welcoming our female 
international guests and some young aspiring 
female urologists, we discussed the role of 
SWANZU and the issues unique to women in 
our profession. Concluding with a fun karaoke 

session, it was a memorable night of laughter 
and dancing.

The scientific program, led by a stellar 
international faculty, included all the 
subspecialties of urology, and highlighted some 
of the many challenges faced by our specialty 
during the pandemic. Some of our international 
guests, including the EAU and BAUS lecturers, 
presented virtually because of ongoing issues 
with travel and rescheduling. The dedication and 
innovation of the speakers, both international 
and local, resulted in a program with many high 
points. Gender diversity in Urology, a novel 
session at our meeting, proved particularly 
informative, demonstrating the changing face of 
surgical practice worldwide. 

The social program, emphasising reconnecting 
post the pandemic, included the Welcome 
Reception with the trade, a combined Presidents 
and Convenor’s Dinner acknowledging the 
contribution of all our guests, and then a night 
of partying and dancing at the “Touch of Gold” 
Gala dinner held at the HOTA. All those who 
attended these events felt the relief of being 
able to revive friendships and collegiality in a 
wonderful setting. 

The 2022 ASM was well-supported by industry, 
with AstraZeneca, the platinum sponsor, headlining 
an excellent trade display that was well-attended 
by all delegates. The conference management 
(DCC&A) and the USANZ staff ensured the 
meeting ran smoothly despite the many challenges 
of changing dates and COVID guidelines.

The meeting was a great success, and we 
look forward to the next ASM in Melbourne in 
February 2023.

2022 ASM International Faculty List:

A few of the invited international faculty 
members were only able to present virtually* 
either via a live Zoom link or by providing a pre-
recorded presentation. 

Prof Hashim Ahmed (UK)

Paula Allchorne (UK) ANZUNS speaker

Prof Jennifer Anger (US)
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Prof Alberto Briganti (IT)

Dr Sigrid Carlsson (US)*

Dr Sam Chang (US)

Prof Thomas Chi (US)*

Dr Jo Cresswell (UK)*

Dr John Denstedt (US)

Prof Tobias Kohler (US)

Dr Sanjay Kulkarni (IN)

Prof Sujata Patwardhan (IN)

Dr Silvia Proietti (IT)

A/Prof Sarah Psutka (US)

A/Prof Maria Ribal (ES)*

Dr Philippe Spiess (US)

Dr Jeremy Teoh (HK)*

Prof Hana Yoon (KR)

 
UAA 2022 Congress, Sydney 
David Winkle, Congress Chair

USANZ hosted the 19th Urological Association 
of Asia Congress 2022 from 5 to 8 October at the 
International Convention Centre Sydney. This is 
the first time that the Congress has been held in 
Australia following a successful bid by USANZ 
in 2018. The Congress was originally scheduled 
for 2021; however, due to the pandemic, it was 
moved to 2022.

There was much uncertainty in the lead-up to 
the event as travel was restricted in large parts of 
the world. This impacted the planning in every 
aspect, particularly during the scientific program 
development and inviting international speakers 
and experts.

We were even more excited when we were able 
to launch a stimulating and high-quality program, 
remaining true to our theme of “Asian Urology 
– Together Towards Tomorrow”. The program 
encompassed traditional urological treatments 
and procedures but also looked to the future 
with presentations demonstrating state-of-the-art 
investigation and treatment of a broad range of 
urological conditions.

I would like to acknowledge the outstanding work 
of our Scientific Program Committee, expertly led 
by Dr Eva Fong (Aotearoa New Zealand) and Prof 
Shomik Sengupta (Australia). 

The Congress was an outstanding success, and 
despite clashes with other international meetings 
and persisting travel restrictions, we were able 
to welcome 922 delegates to Sydney, from 42 
countries. 

Scheduled prior to the Congress were The Asian 
Urology Residents Course (AURC) held at the 
PARKROYAL Darling Harbour, Sydney, from 3 to 5 
October, and pre-Congress workshops covering a 
range of topics on Wednesday 5 October.

Social functions complemented the scientific 
program. The Opening Ceremony on Wednesday 
evening began with an Indigenous dance group 
performance acknowledging the traditional 
custodians of the land where the Congress was 
held. The following UAA members received the 
UAA Honorary Membership Award for 2020: Dr 
Gopal Badlani (United States), Prof Chongwook 
Lee (Korea) and Prof Apichat Kongkanand 
(Thailand). The recipients for 2022 were: Prof 
Ralph Clayman (United States), A/Prof Vincent 
Tse (Australia) and Dr (Bill) Wong Tak Hing (Hong 
Kong). The Welcome Reception was held in The 
Gallery with our trade partners. The President’s 
Dinner was held on Thursday evening in the 
Crystal Ballroom of the iconic Luna Park with 
beautiful views of Sydney Harbour, the Opera 
House and Harbour Bridge, and the Congress 
Dinner on Friday evening in the Parkside Ballroom 
of the ICC Sydney.

The program comprised 9 half-day workshops 
and symposia on Wednesday, and four plenary 
sessions and 51 concurrent sessions (including 
the Nursing Symposium, Paediatric Program, 
and Young Urologists Session) during the main 
Congress from Thursday to Saturday. There were 
three sponsored breakfast symposia and one 
sponsored evening symposium. 421 abstracts 
were submitted, and 199 selected, of which 134 
were presented during concurrent sessions and 65 
were displayed in the exhibition area as ePosters. 
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We sincerely thank our sponsors and exhibitors 
for their support, particularly our Diamond 
Sponsor, AstraZeneca; Emerald Sponsor, 
Olympus; two Sapphire Sponsors, Device 
Technologies and Teleflex; four Ruby Sponsors; 
BK Medical, Boston Scientific, Innologic and 
Jeilmedix and five Opal Sponsors; Astellas, Bayer, 
Edaptechnomed, Koelis and Profound Medical, as 
well as our 26 exhibitors. 

On behalf of the local organising committee 
of the UAA 2022 Congress and the Urological 
Society of Australia and New Zealand, we extend 
our heartfelt gratitude to the UAA Executives, 
the UAA Council Members, the international and 
local faculty and speakers, our industry partners 
and all attending delegates for making this 
event an immense success. We have built new 
friendships across the region and the world and 
strengthened an existing relationship that will last 
well into the future.

 

Melbourne 2023 
Declan Murphy, Convenor

Our 2023 ASM, the key scientific and social 
occasion in the USANZ calendar, takes place 
in Melbourne from 25-28th February and is on 
track to return to business as usual following a 
turbulent few years. The 2022 ASM Committee 
organised a great physical meeting on the Gold 
Coast, albeit at the unusual time of mid-winter. 
It was clear at that meeting that the urological 
community was highly motivated to return to 
physical meetings. 

Chair of the Scientific Committee, Assoc. 
Professor Janelle Brennan, has developed a terrific 
program featuring an array of international and 
local expertise. We have a diverse international 
faculty with the remit to educate and entertain the 
USANZ audience. The social events will showcase 
some outstanding Melbourne locations, and we 
are confident they will be very well-attended. 

We are also planning a special Harry Harris 
Oration titled “Remembering Christchurch”. As 
we missed out on the tenth anniversary of the 
terrible 2011 Christchurch Earthquake that will 

always be associated with the USANZ ASM, we 
have decided to dedicate the 2023 Harry Harris 
Oration to this occasion. We have invited the 
four inaugural Christchurch Medallists to come 
together and tell the story of then, and now. It will 
be a memorable and poignant occasion. 

As ever, I extend a huge thanks to the 
extraordinary Anna Tartakovskaia, USANZ 
Conference Manager, and USANZ CEO Michael 
Nugara for all they do to enable this meeting. 
Thanks also to our team at DC Conference and 
Association Management, plus our ANZUNS 
colleagues Marc Diocera and Kath Schubach, 
who are organising a terrific nurses’ meeting in 
parallel. 

 
Adelaide 2024 
Michael Chong, Convenor

Planning for the USANZ 2024 ASM is underway, 
and the Meeting will be held at Adelaide 
Convention Centre from 24 to 27 February. Our 
Scientific Committee Chair, Dixon Woon, will 
be working with SAG Leaders to develop a list 
of potential international faculty members. Of 
course, the program will continue to progress over 
the next 12 months, so check the ASM website 
after February for updates. The last time the ASM 
was held in Adelaide was in 2015, and it was a 
hugely successful meeting from the point of view 
of both the scientific and social programs. I’m sure 
many members will still remember the amazing 
dinner at Adelaide Oval. We plan to build on that 
success and bring you another outstanding ASM 
in a city bursting with culture, amazing restaurants 
and bars, events, and entertainment. Adelaide 
is the gateway to some of Australia’s best wine 
regions, along with the stunning and ecologically 
diverse Kangaroo Island!

So, mark your diary now, and think about 
spending some extra time to explore.

A N N UA L  S C I E N T I F I C  M E E T I N G S 
&  UA A  C O N G R E S S
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Specialty Elected Councillor to RACS 
Mark Frydenberg

It has been an enormous pleasure representing 
urologists and USANZ on RACS Council with the 
assistance of Henry Woo. As Chairs of Health 
Policy and Advocacy and Research and Academic 
Surgery, we, as urologists, have been well placed 
to affect change within RACS and to ensure 
urological voices are heard. The year has once 
again been very busy, especially in the area of 
advocacy, maldistribution of the workforce and 
changes to CPD requirements. 

Areas of advocacy have included protection of 
the title “surgeon”, submissions regarding special 
endorsements in cosmetic surgery (which could 
be used as a strategy for endorsement in other 
surgical disciplines by non-FRACS surgeons), 
Honeysuckle Health ACCC submission (where 
RACS vigorously opposed the introduction of 
managed care), ACT and Victorian submissions 
into the management of minors with disorders of 
sexual differentiation, medical cost finder website, 
prosthetic list reforms, lobbying for resumption 
of elective surgery during COVID-19 lockdowns, 
especially in Victoria, and development of an anti-
racism policy amongst many others. Advocacy is 
becoming a significant component of RACS’ work 
for the profession. The committee now reports 
directly to Council Executive and Council, with 
strong collaboration with all State, Territory and 
AoNZ committees, all Specialty Societies, and 
other stakeholders such as AMA. 

Workforce shortages remain a critical issue in 
both countries. RACS has contributed to the 
Government’s national workforce strategy and 
developed a robust and active Rural Surgery 
committee that advocates strongly for the 
requirements and special needs of those 
practising in regional, rural, and remote locations. 

Equity and diversity remain critical to RACS, 
with mandatory reporting of gender distribution 
in all specialties and in chairing and speaking 
opportunities at major RACS or Society 
conferences. USANZ has been exemplary in 
this area, especially in how it has conducted its 

conferences over recent years: the joint meeting 
with the RACS ASC in 2021, the USANZ ASM in 
2022, and the recent UAA Congress. Ongoing 
support and encouragement for first nations 
people to apply and train as surgeons is again 
a major priority for RACS in both countries, as 
is cultural safety education and bringing those 
learnings into our everyday practice. 

Finally, CPD changes have been imposed on 
all organisations, including RACS, leading to a 
major redevelopment of the CPD program in 
anticipation of these changes. We encourage 
members to use RACS as their CPD home and use 
the renewed CPD program, enhanced with the 
development of a mobile app, to make entering 
CPD data more streamlined and effortless. 

I want to thank our membership for all their 
support in this role over the last six years and for 
allowing me to finish my final 3-year term as a 
RACS Council member so I can best represent the 
views of urologists on Council. 

Victoria 
Homi Zargar

Executive Committee Members

Homi Zargar: Victorian Executive Committee Chair

Joseph Ischia: Treasurer

Paul Anderson: AMA Representative

Jyotsna Jayarajan: RACS Representative

Mark Frydenberg: Federal USANZ Representative

Kathryn McLeod: Regional Training Committee Chair

Simeon Ngweso: Trainee Representative

Victorian Section Meeting

The Victorian Section Meeting was held at The 
Events Centre, Collins Square, Melbourne, on 
Friday 21 October 2022. The meeting was attended 
by a total of 115 delegates and 39 industry 
representatives. The scientific program included 15 
invited speakers and 14 abstract presenters. The 
overall theme of the meeting was “Learning from 
History”. Emma Clarebrough won the Peter Lawson 
Award for the best Victorian Registrar based on 
aggregate performance over three years of training 

R E P R E S E N TAT I V E  A N D  
S E C T I O N  R E P O R T S



(SET2-SET4). For the second year in a row, the best 
Victorian Registrar Presentation prize was awarded 
to Niranjan Sathianathen.

Education and Training

Of the 37 Australian applicants who applied 
for entry to the SET Program in Urology (2023 
intake), eleven were from Victoria. There were nine 
shortlisted for the interview, of which four were 
appointed. Four Victorian trainees were successful 
in the Fellowship examination in 2022 (including 
one trainee undertaking their final year of training in 
NSW this year); five passed the Clinical Examination, 
and one passed the SSE (Urology) Exam. Five 
trainees completed their SET Urology Training.

 

South Australia/Northern Territory 
Ashani Couchman

In the year that saw recovery from the immediate 
effects of the COVID pandemic, there was a clear 
and distinct increase in healthcare needs. The 
increased pressures on the health workforce and the 
increased morbidity in the community compounded 
the already stretched resources. There has been 
a move to rationalise cost benefit with resultant 
increased scrutiny of resource allocation and 
attempts to achieve efficiencies. We have also 
seen a ray of sunshine in the return of face-to-face 
meetings, which was a welcome change from the 
constant meetings on virtual platforms. 

Our trainees have maintained their access 
to operative intervention and teaching, 
supplemented by an excellent monthly teaching 
program facilitated by Dr Rick Catterwell – voted 
SET Supervisor of the Year 2022. Dr Arman 
Kahokehr remains the Chair of the SA Regional 
Training Committee, well-supported by Dr Peter 
Penkoff at the Lyell McEwin Hospital, Dr Jason 
Lee at Flinders Hospital, Dr Jonathan Cho at the 
Queen Elizabeth Hospital and Dr Diwei Lin at 
The Royal Adelaide Hospital, as the respective 
supervisors of training. We were delighted to 
congratulate Dr Tom Cundy for passing his 
fellowship examination and to welcome Dr Athul 
John, a South Australian, as a SET 1 in 2023, 
commencing his term at Flinders Hospital. 

The SA/NT section meeting was a great success. 
The convenor, Dr Rick Catterwell, delivered 
a program that was varied and inclusive. The 
turnout reflected the importance of meeting 
with colleagues and maintaining professional 
relationships, which in turn assisted in making the 
meeting a financially viable forum for collaboration 
and learning. The business meeting of 2022 again 
supported the ongoing commitment to the  
SA-PCCOC database, which is going from 
strength to strength. Prof Helen O’Connell AO 
represented USANZ at the meeting with an 
excellent overview of the current issues facing 
urologists in Australasia. Dr Jonathan Cho will 
convene the section meeting for 2023, and South 
Australia will host the USANZ ASM in 2024.  

Dr John Bolt stepped down as the head of 
department at the Royal Adelaide Hospital. He 
remained a stalwart leader in the face of the 
COVID pandemic and the resultant pivoting 
required at the departmental and state level within 
the regional health network. He is succeeded by 
Dr Denby Steele. Dr John Miller (Lyell McEwin 
Hospital), Dr Michael Chong (Flinders Hospital) 
and Dr Rick Catterwell (Queen Elizabeth Hospital) 
remain as respective departmental heads of 
Urology. Dr Henry Duncan continues his excellent 
work in the Northern Territory.

We wish Dr Peter Sutherland OAM all the best 
in his retirement. As a trailblazer in robotic 
radical prostatectomy in South Australia, he was 
instrumental in introducing the technique to the 
state by establishing Australia’s first public robotic 
surgery program. 

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the 
tremendous effort and support of Dr John Miller. 
He has worked tirelessly to represent SA/NT at 
the board level for many years. A highly respected 
colleague who has been a font of knowledge and 
support for many. He remains an excellent support 
and sounding board as I embark on my term as 
the representative for SA/NT on the Board of 
Urology for the next three years.   

R E P R E S E N TAT I V E  A N D  
S E C T I O N  R E P O R T S
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Northern  

Simon Pridgeon

The Northern Section convened its annual meeting 
in 2022 on the Gold Coast. We welcomed two 
interstate urologists as well as local experts. Our 
non-clinical guest speaker was Captain Matthew 
Gray from Qantas, who taught us how non-
technical skills could be transferred from the cockpit 
to the operating theatre. We were delighted to 
have the USANZ CEO and the President at our 
meeting. The AGM was well-attended, and we 
heard from our regional training director about 
potential changes to the training curriculum. In 
addition, the President presented the USANZ 
annual report. After my three-year tenure as 
Northern Section Convenor, I handed over the reins 
to Dr Devang Desai, who will be hosting next year’s 
meeting in his hometown of Toowoomba.

 

Aotearoa New Zealand 
Leanne Shaw

Our year began with our Aotearoa New Zealand 
Urology meeting, which was eventually held 
online in February. We had postponed this in 
the hope that we would be able to hold a face-
to-face meeting; however, another COVID wave 
necessitated moving the meeting online. Although 
this was not ideal, as it removed the ability to 
network in person, it was nonetheless a beneficial 
and well-received meeting. The educational 
content was once again of a high level, including 
an excellent session arranged by Hei Āhuru Mōwai.

On July 1st the NZ Health System became Te Whatu 
Ora (NZ Health). This entity is to work alongside 
another new entity, Te Aka Whai Ora (Māori Health 
Authority) to deliver healthcare in NZ. Beyond these 
two entities, we have been given little information 
on how the new system will function except that 
the focus is on equity around Aotearoa. Our Clinical 
Directors group has spent many hours coming up 
with a national plan of how we would like Urology 
to function and has now been asked to help form a 
National Clinical Network.

We recognise that although Aotearoa New 
Zealand and Australia are similar, the entities 

we interact with and the way we do things are 
often very different. Our health systems function 
differently; we have cultural differences, different 
Medical Councils, assess our SIMGs differently, 
and have entities in NZ that do not exist in 
Australia, such as ACC and Pharmac. We have 
therefore investigated setting up an autonomous 
Aotearoa NZ entity that would deal with NZ-
specific issues separately. This entity would have 
representation on the BOD and continue to work 
with USANZ on all matters of joint interest.

Credentialling is being introduced for 
urogynaecological procedures, with Tier 3 
interviews already completed. The credentialling 
aims to ensure urologists receive adequate 
training to perform these types of procedures 
to provide high levels of care to our patients. 
Our members have been heavily involved in the 
production of these documents.

Each of the four NZ trainees who sat their 
Fellowship exams in 2022 passed. We 
congratulate them and are looking forward to their 
return after Fellowship placements.

The trainee weekend in Christchurch went ahead 
in 2022. This weekend is important for education 
and for our trainees to get to know each other. NZ 
trainees often work as a sole urology trainee in a 
town, so this weekend helps them to form lasting 
collegial relationships.

The Aotearoa New Zealand Meeting for 2023 is 
in March and will be held in Taranaki for the first 
time. Everyone is welcome, and we would love 
to see some of our Australian colleagues join us. 
Our two convenors are working hard and have 
developed a fantastic program. The 2024 meeting 
will return to the 4th quarter of the year.

We wish everyone a successful 2023. 

 
NSW 
Steven Sowter

The 2022 New South Wales State Section Meeting 
was held at the Novotel Wollongong North Beach 
Hotel between 10-12 November 2022.

 

R E P R E S E N TAT I V E  A N D  
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As Section Chair, I would like to thank Amanda 
Chung as Scientific Convenor, who put together a 
truly inspiring program. After two years of COVID 
cancellation, a well-attended meeting with more 
than 170 delegates again had the opportunity to 
gather to discuss and Shape the Future of Urology.

Our international speakers included Nadya 
York, with her discussion on stone disease and 
obesity in uro-bariatric surgery, and Don Lee on 
the treatment of Peyronie’s disease. Ioana Popa 
taught the trainees about andrology. Interstate 
speakers included Peter Swindle on audit and 
self-improvement in radical prostatectomy and 
Sandra Elmer on her excellent presentation of the 
surgical management of pelvic organ prolapse. A 
special thanks to our colleagues Laurence Krieger 
for his presentation on the role of immunotherapy 
in bladder cancer, Tom Eade on advances in 
radiotherapy for the treatment of prostate cancer, 
Ali Tafreshi on novel anti-androgens for prostate 
cancer and Fiona Maclean for her update on 
urological pathology. Renee Lim gave an excellent 
presentation on well-being in urology in the 21st 
century. A highlight was not only Renee’s talk 
but a panel discussion that took us out of our 
comfort zone in what was truly an enlightened 

and well-received presentation. I also thank the 
abstract reviewers and session chairs, as well as 
congratulate all presenters on the calibre of their 
presentations and abstracts. Once again, the 
meeting concluded with The Quiz by Sandy Grant 
and Fin Macneil, with the registrar winner being 
Kenneth Chew. Bill Lynch won the consultant prize.  

The Chris Farrell Award for Best Registrar 
Paper was presented to Brayden March for his 
presentation entitled “Has the Pandemic Affected 
Trainee Surgical Exposure?”, an analysis of 
operative trends at a high-volume training post. 
The George Schnitzler Awards for Best Registrar 
in 2020 and 2021 were presented retrospectively 
at the section meeting together with the award 
for Best Registrar in 2022. The George Schnitzler 
Award for Best Registrar in 2020 was presented to 
Sunny Nalavenkata, and the award for 2021 was 
presented to Jonathan Kam. The recipient of the 
George Schnitzler Award for Best Registrar in 2022 
was Michael Bock.

The 2023 NSW Section Meeting will be held in 
Newcastle, convened by Dr Albert Tiu, and his 
scientific convenor will be Dr Nick Mehan. I wish 
them all the best with what will be yet another 
successful NSW State Meeting.

R E P R E S E N TAT I V E  A N D  
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USANZ Prizes and Awards
Keith Kirkland and Villis Marshall Awards: 
These awards are for the best presentations 
by SET Urology trainees in the Keith Kirkland/
Villis Marshall session at the Annual Scientific 
Meeting. The Keith Kirkland Award is for the best 
presentation of research undertaken in a clinical 
environment. The Villis Marshall Award is for the 
best presentation of research undertaken in a 
full-time academic/scientific environment. The 
awards consist of a cash prize of $1,000 from 
USANZ and an AUF Travelling Fellowship to the 
value of $2,500 to present their work overseas.

Alban Gee Award: This award is for the best 
poster presentation by a USANZ Member 
(including SET Urology Trainees) at the Annual 
Scientific Meeting. The award consists of a cash 
prize of $500 from USANZ.

BAUS Trophy: USANZ awards this trophy for 
the Best Scientific Podium presentation by a 
Full Member of USANZ at the Annual Scientific 
Meeting. The recipient’s name is engraved 
on the BAUS Trophy alongside all previous 
BAUS prize recipients. The award also includes 
complimentary registration to attend the BAUS 
Annual Meeting the following year.

Low-Arnold Award in Female and Functional 
Urology: This award is for the Best Podium or 
Poster Presentation in the field of Female or 
Functional Urology presented at the Meeting by 
a Full Member of USANZ. The award consists of a 
$1,500 cash prize.

Platinum Trophy: The Platinum Trophy is for the 
Best Endeavour presented by a Full Member of 
USANZ. The prize includes a Trophy and free 
registration for the USANZ Annual Scientific 
Meeting the following year.

Young Investigator Award: This award was 
presented to the Principal Investigator of a 
paper presented at the USANZ ASM in the field 
of Functional and Female Urology and is a cash 
prize of $10,000.

Christchurch Medal Award: USANZ introduced 
the Christchurch Medal to recognise Urologists 
who demonstrated outstanding acts for the benefit 
of others immediately following the devastating 

earthquake on 22 February 2011 in Christchurch, 
New Zealand. The criteria are:

a) Christchurch Medal Bravery Award for acts of 
bravery in hazardous circumstances, where 
the nominee risked personal injury and/or 
death to save the life or render assistance to 
someone in need.

b) Christchurch Medal Community Service Award 
in recognition of urologists who have given 
exceptional community service, where the 
nominee has substantially contributed to the 
improvement of the quality of life of members of 
a community through humanitarian endeavours.

Daniel Christidis Scholarship 
USANZ established this scholarship to honour 
the memory of Daniel Christidis, a respected 
and valued SET1 trainee member. Daniel was an 
outstanding doctor with significant leadership 
potential and dedication to research, who 
had already made a strong impression on his 
colleagues. The Scholarship is intended to assist 
USANZ members who are current urological 
trainees and eligible USANZ Associate Members 
to present their research at an international 
urological meeting.

2022  Award Winners

Daniel Christidis Scholarship: Jonathan Kam

Honorary Membership:  
Tyrone Carlin, Sanjay Kulkarni

Christchurch Medal Community Service Award: 
Sue Chapman

Keith Kirkland Award: Brennan Timm

Villis Marshall Award: Emma Clarebrough

Alban Gee Award: Prassannah Satasivam

BAUS Trophy: Peter Chin

Platinum Trophy: Eric Chung

Young Investigator Award: Not awarded in 2022

Low-Arnold Award in Female and Functional 
Urology: Not awarded in 2022



 

A G M  A G E N DA

Agenda
The 76th Annual General Meeting of the Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand 
will be held at 4.15 pm, Saturday 25 February 2023 in Room 219, Melbourne Convention and 
Exhibition Centre, Melbourne, Victoria Australia.

1.  Welcome

2.  Present

3.  Apologies

4.  Proxies

5.  Minutes of the 75th Annual General Meeting held at 3.00 pm on Saturday 30 April 2022 
as a Virtual Meeting

6.  Business arising from the minutes

7.  President’s Report

8.  Chief Executive’s Report

9.  Secretary’s Report

10. Treasurer’s Report

11. Annual Reports of the Society

  11.1  Board of Urology (Nestor Lalak)

  11.2  Continuing Professional Development (Peter Heathcote)

  11.3  Royal Australasian College of Surgeons (Mark Frydenberg)

	 	 11.4		 Annual	Scientific	Meeting	2022	(Anita	Clarke)

	 	 11.5		 Annual	Scientific	Meeting	2023	(Declan	Murphy)

	 	 11.6		 Annual	Scientific	Meeting	2024	(Michael	Chong)	

12. General business
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Minutes of the 75th Annual General Meeting of the Urological Society of Australia 
and New Zealand held virtually at 3.00pm on Saturday 30 April 2022. 

1 Quorum

“No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum of members is present 
in person which shall not be less than 5% of all Full Members of the USANZ.” As at 22 April 2022, 
the number of Full Members of USANZ totalled 606. Therefore at least 31 members were required 
to be present to achieve a quorum. At 3:25 pm, 27 members and 1 proxy were in attendance, 3 
less than quorum of 31. 

There was reference to clause 38 of the Constitution which states: if within half an hour of the time 
appointed for the meeting, a quorum of members is not present, a meeting if convened upon the 
requisition of members, shall be dissolved. In any other case, the members present shall constitute 
the quorum.

The Chair asked those members present to advise if they had any objection to proceeding with the 
meeting. No objections to proceed were lodged. 

The Chair declared the meeting opened at 3:30 pm. 

Four additional voting members (identified under the list of those Present below) joined the 
meeting after it had commenced and had the opportunity to vote on all resolutions. 

2 Present 
31 Voting Members

Members identified by an asterisk (*) joined after the start of the meeting, but before voting on 
resolutions was closed.

Present
Anita Clarke, Anojan Navaratnam*, Damien Bolton, Finlay Macneil, Helen O’Connell, Henry 
Duncan, Henry Woo, Janelle Brennan*, John Kourambas, Justin Vivian, Karen McKertich, Kathryn 
McLeod, Leanne Shaw, Lydia Johns Putra, Marcus Handmer, Mark Frydenberg, Melvyn Kuan, 
Michael Rice*, Modher Al-Shawi, Nestor Lalak, Peter Heathcote, Prem Rashid, Richard Grills, 
Robert Forsyth, Sandra Elmer*, Shane La Bianca, Stuart Philip, Sydney Weinstein, Timothy Smith*, 
Troy Gianduzzo and Uri Hanegbi.

Proxies
John Miller (1 proxy)

In attendance
M Nugara (CEO), N Finch (Finance Manager) D Klein (Moderator), J Street (Communications), M 
Bennison (GSC - Minutes), Suzi Wright (EA), Gavin Reed (Lumi).

3 Apologies 

Darren Katz, John Miller
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4 Welcome

4.1.1 Acknowledgement to the Aboriginal Islander and Torres Strait and Maori peoples

The Chair acknowledged the first people of both our nations. He acknowledged the Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people, including the Gadigal people of the Eora nation, as the 
traditional custodians of the land where the USANZ office is located in Edgecliff, as well as the 
traditional landowners of the lands where we all work and live. He paid respect to the elders past, 
present and future. In addition, the Chair offered a translation of the Maori Welcome. Welcome to 
this house as a meeting place of those who follow the Southern Cross, a generous and heartfelt 
welcome acknowledging the Maori as the people of the land of New Zealand and respect their 
continuing connection to culture, land, waterways, community and family. 

4.1.2 Eligibility to Vote

All current financial Full Members and Fellows of the Society are eligible to vote at the Urological 
Society of Australia and New Zealand’s Annual General Meeting.

4.1.3 Agenda, voting processes and meeting format

The Chair formally declared voting open on all USANZ resolutions. 

He outlined the format of the meeting and advised that all reports will be presented, followed 
by a question and answer (Q&A) session. Questions can be submitted via the messaging tab as 
outlined in the instructions. You can also submit your intention to ask a verbal question. Questions 
can be lodged at any time during the meeting and will be addressed in the Q&A session.

Voting will remain open throughout the meeting, and notice will be given before it closes. The 
results of voting on all resolutions will be announced as a block at the end of the USANZ meeting.

The Chair thanked those members attending the AGM and read out the names of members who 
had sent their apologies or lodged proxies.

4.1.4 Declaration of Conflict of Interest

The Chair reminded members of their obligation to declare a conflict of interest, advising 
that any member who has a direct or indirect pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in a matter 
being considered, or about to be considered at the Annual General Meeting shall, as soon as 
practicable after the relevant facts come to the member’s knowledge, disclose the nature of that 
interest. Any declarations received will be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting.

5 Minutes from the previous Annual General Meeting

The Chair reported that the minutes of the previous meeting were published in the Annual Report 
with the AGM papers and requested members to submit any questions relating to business 
arising from the minutes.

Resolution:
To accept the Minutes of the 74th Annual General Meeting held at 3.00 pm on Saturday 24 April 
2021 as a virtual meeting, as a true and accurate record of the meeting.

FOR: 86.96%                                             AGAINST: 0%                                    ABSTAIN: 13.04%       CARRIED

6 Business Arising from the Minutes

No questions were raised from the floor relating to business arising from the minutes. 
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7 President’s Report

Prem Rashid noted that the President’s Report, as published in the Annual Report, can be taken as 
read and made the following additional comments.

The previous 12 months have been difficult as everyone continued to adjust to COVID, with 
challenges occurring on a day-to-day basis, including waiting list management, prioritisation of 
caseload and resource management in general. Many members have had to work from home 
while in isolation, and it has been difficult adjusting to complex and varying rules as well as dealing 
with staffing issues in both clinic rooms and hospitals. These challenges inevitably led to personal 
stress, and he hoped members remain well and do not forget their personal health and family 
priorities. USANZ has been working through similar challenges and is hoping to get back on track 
as situations unfold. 

Our Annual Scientific Meeting (ASM) on the Gold Coast is coming up shortly, and the Board 
of Directors decided recently to offer a 20% discount on registration to encourage face-to-
face attendance. There is also a $100 discount on the gala dinner to further encourage social 
interaction. 

Prem also encouraged members to express their interest in any opportunities that are made 
available to represent USANZ nationally and internationally, such as the recently issued SIU 
expression of interest. 

He further reported that there are ongoing efforts to restore education as our focus and to deliver 
it once again in the manner we prefer, specifically the upcoming ASM, but also continuing to 
engage in online formats.

Prem reported that the Board of Directors continues to want to support members to deliver a high 
level of Urological care and promote standards with our partners, including peer organisations, 
trade, and the RACS, with whom we continue to have a good working relationship. 

Finally, Prem thanked USANZ staff who continue to work flexibly to deliver a very high standard of 
service to the organisation, including putting together the format for this AGM. 

He reminded members to submit their questions on ordinary business now.

Resolution:
To Accept the President’s Report

FOR: 100%                                                  AGAINST: 0%                                              ABSTAIN: 0%           CARRIED

8 Chief Executive Officer’s Report

Michael Nugara, CEO, spoke to his written report, advising that the challenges USANZ faced in 2020 
continued in 2021 as COVID-19-related disruptions persisted. Despite these disruptions, USANZ 
continued to work to serve its members. 

Michael reported on the prudent decision by the Board of Directors to cancel the 2021 ASM. Despite 
this, we continued to provide members with educational meetings during the year, including the 
commitment of resources to deliver the Urology program as part of the RACS Annual Scientific 
Congress (ASC). The hybrid program was well supported by members, many of whom attended a 
USANZ hub set up in various centres. Michael acknowledged the efforts of convenor Henry Woo in 
facilitating our involvement in the ASC.

76USANZ  |  2022 Annual Report



Michael advised that USANZ also participated in joint virtual sessions held during the EAU Congress, 
BAUS meeting and the opening session of the UAA Congress. Two section meetings were able to 
proceed with in-person attendance; the Victorian Section held a virtual meeting, while other section 
meetings were cancelled or postponed.

During the year, the Board ratified terms of reference to establish SWANZU, the Surgical Women in 
Australia and New Zealand Urology interest group. This was a significant milestone recognising the 
need to support women urologists as well as collaborating to address barriers women face when 
pursuing a career in urology. SWANZU is currently chaired by Anita Clarke. 

The Board also established a Diversity and Inclusion Committee. The Governance Framework for 
this committee tasked them with developing a diversity and inclusion plan. This is currently a work 
in progress and recognising the work that RACS has done in this area, we have aligned ourselves 
closely with their objectives. I’d also like to acknowledge the generosity of RACS in sharing 
documentation and also providing advice, given their many years of experience in this area. Karen 
McKertich was the inaugural Chair of the Committee, and Melvyn Kuan has now taken over this role.

To inform members of various activities conducted by the Society, we developed a new report, 
the 2021 Member Activity Report. This report was published in the 2021 Annual Report and has 
also been circulated to the membership in UroNews. The report provides details about activities 
undertaken during the year, covering 15 separate areas of activity that were carried out for, and by 
members. If you’ve not already reviewed it, I would encourage you to do so. 

The rest of the CEO Report was taken as read. 

Resolution:
To accept the Chief Executive Officer’s Report.

FOR: 100%  AGAINST: 0% ABSTAIN: 0%           CARRIED

9 Secretary’s Report 

Prem Rashid advised that Peter Heathcote, the USANZ Honorary Secretary, was having technical 
issues and was unable to comment on the report verbally. He requested that the Secretary’s Report 
be taken as read.

Prem acknowledged the passing of Frank Breslin, Irwin Hannan, Eric (Graham) Holmes, Joseph 
(Gerry) Joyce, David Kennedy and Rodney Syme.

The report was taken as read. 

Resolution:
To accept the Secretary’s Report

FOR: 100%  AGAINST: 0% ABSTAIN: 0%           CARRIED

10 Treasurer’s Report 

Michael Nugara, CEO, provided the Treasurer’s Report advising that the preparation of the 
Statutory Accounts and the Audit process were completed satisfactorily for the 2021 year with 
unqualified audit clearance provided. He reported that the format of the Financial Report 
changed this year following a review of the reporting framework applicable to the Not-for-Profit 
Sector. The review was carried out by the Australian Accounting Standards Board with changes 
implemented in 2021. For comparison purposes, the 2020-year result has been restated, and the 
financial outcome for the 2021 year was better than expected.

M I N U T E S
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Michael reported that the Society returned an operating surplus of approximately $180,000. 
When other comprehensive income was factored in (i.e., unrealised gains on investments and 
the revaluation of the Society’s office), the surplus was $940,000. 

Operating revenue for the year was down significantly when compared to the prior year at $2.72 
million compared to $4.58 million for 2020. This was largely due to the reduction in the number 
of scheduled activities and sponsorships. In particular, no ASM was held, and most section 
meetings did not proceed. 

Operating expenses of $2.55 million were incurred during the year, and the new format of the 
statement provides greater detail about the nature of these expenses. Some were significantly 
lower in 2021 compared to the previous year. In particular, those associated with meetings 
and events as well as venue and catering costs as a result of fewer events being held in 2021. 
Other operating expenses were either close to or less than the prior year. Cuts to discretionary 
expenditure that were implemented in 2020 continued in 2021. 

Michael advised that the strength of the USANZ balance sheet played a key role in assisting the 
organisation get through the challenges of the last two years. The balance sheet remains strong, 
with total assets of more than $14.8 million and liabilities of $1.66 million. As USANZ gradually 
resumes face-to-face events and meetings, we anticipate the financial outcome for 2022 will be a 
relatively modest surplus. 

The report was noted. 

Resolution:
To accept the Treasurer’s Report, which incorporates USANZ’s Financial Report for the year ended 
31 December 2021.

FOR: 100%  AGAINST: 0% ABSTAIN: 0%           CARRIED

11 BOU and RACS Specialty Representative Report

The Board of Urology report from Rob Forsyth and the RACS Specialty Representative Report 
from Mark Frydenberg were noted.

Resolution:
To accept the reports from the Board of Urology and the RACS Specialty Representative.

FOR: 100%  AGAINST: 0% ABSTAIN: 0%           CARRIED
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12 Changes to Office Holder

Prem Rashid reported on the following changes to USANZ Office Holders.

Rob Forsyth completed his tenure as the Board of Urology Chair, and Nestor Lalak has been 
announced as the new Chair. I thank Rob and welcome Nestor. 

Karen McKertich completed her tenure as the ANZAUS Chair, and Henry Woo has been 
announced as the new Chair. I welcome Henry into this role. 

Tyrone Carlin completed his tenure as an External Director for USANZ. A replacement has not yet 
been confirmed.

Prem thanked outgoing Directors Rob, Karen, and Tyrone, who have individually contributed 
enormously to the smooth running of the Board. Their contribution was most valued and will be 
missed. He also welcomed Nestor and Henry and reported that he looks forward to welcoming the 
External Director appointments as they come to fruition. 

13 Questions from the floor

13.1 Will this discount for ASM apply to members who have registered and paid already? Some 
of us are happy to stick with what we have paid already. (Finlay Macneil)

 Yes, Prem Rashid confirmed that was the decision the Board came to. Early bird registrants 
would receive a refund so they were not penalised.

13.2	Is	there	a	formal	financial	strategy	for	managing	such	a	large	surplus?	(Damien	Bolton)

 Michael Nugara responded by advising that, in terms of our accumulated funds, the Board 
has an Investments Policy where we are currently drip-feeding an amount each month into 
exchange-traded funds. That procedure will continue; the Board last approved 24 monthly 
tranches of $100,000 each, and that will continue for a few more months. Michael also 
highlighted that the $940,000 includes a significant amount of money that is really a “paper 
profit”. The key number to focus on is the operating surplus of $180,000 because the other 
amounts that made up the comprehensive income are unrealised, and the value of those 
shares fluctuates whenever the markets are open. Michael confirmed that, in terms of the 
strategy, the Investments Policy outlines how we invest strategically to maximise the return to 
the Society.

 Prem Rashid added that one of the contributors to the surplus is the real estate value of the 
Edgecliff office which has to be revalued every 3 years.

 Damien thanked Michael and Prem, commenting that he just wanted to confirm it was not 
invested in bitcoin. Prem confirmed that USANZ is not investing in bitcoin and that it is 
following a solid Investment Policy.

13.3 Not a question, but I would like to commend the Board on producing a far more 
transparent	financial	statement	as	well	as	providing	meticulously	detailed	minutes	from	the	
previous AGM. (Henry Woo)

 Prem thanked Henry for his comments, advising that is part of the process by which the 
standards have to be met.
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14 General Business and Voting Closure

Prem reminded members that voting will be closing and paused to enable members to finalise 
their voting. 

The voting results were displayed for members, and Prem confirmed that all six ordinary 
resolutions, which required a vote of 50% or more, had passed. 

15 Meeting Closure

Prem thanked all members who have been involved in the AGM and those that sent in apologies 
and proxies. He also extended his thanks to USANZ and the technical staff from Lumi who worked 
behind the scenes to bring the meeting to members in this format. Prem closed the meeting.

USANZ AGM closed at 3.45 pm
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